

Journal of Updates in Cardiovascular Medicine



www.jucvm.com

REVIEW ARTICLES

Fetal Cardiac Interventions: A Review of The Current Literature Ebru Aypar

Improving Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting in Women: Difficulties and Outcomes Jessica B. Briscoe, Jennifer S. Lawton

RESEARCH ARTICLES

Quantitative Ultrasonographic Measures of Common Carotid Artery Blood Flow Velocity in Individuals with Prediabetes

Okan Tanrıverdi

Septal Myectomy without Correction of Moderate and Severe Mitral Regurgitation Evgeny E. Kobzev, Evgeny V. Rosseykin, Vizil Desai

The Dynamic Relationship Among Atrial Pacing, Premature Atrial Beats, Mode Switching, and Atrial High-Rate Episodes in Patients with Sick Sinus Syndrome Barış Yaylak, Fuat Polat, Cuma Süleymanoğlu

Potential Protective Effects of Boldine in Rat with an Experimental Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Model Hüseyin Demirtaş, Alperen Kutay Yıldırım, Abdullah Özer, Ali Doğan Dursun, Şaban Cem Sezen, Zeynep Yığman, Ayşegül Küçük, Mustafa Arslan

CASE REPORTS

Late Diaphragmatic Paralysis After Atrial Fibrillation Cryoablation Özge Çakmak Karaaslan, Ümit Güray

Mitral Anterior Leaflet Perforation Due to Jet Flow in Aortic Valve Insufficiency Mehmet Işık, Muhammet B Cavlak, Serkan Yıldırım, Yüksel Dereli









Editor-in-Chief

Prof. Öztekin Oto, FESC, FACC

Dokuz Eylül University, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, İzmir, Türkiye President, Heart and Health Foundation of Türkiye / İzmir / Türkiye ORCID:orcid.org/0000-0002-8595-6006

Editors

Marko Turina Dean Emeritus University of Zurich, Switzerland

Michael Firstenberg The Medical Center of Aurora, Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Colorado, USA

ORCID: 0000-0001-6755-5025

Changsheng Ma Beijing Anzhen Hospital, Capital Medical University, Clinic of Cardiology, Beijing, China

DRCID: 0000-0002-5387-5957

Nikolaos Bonaros

Medical University of Innsbruck, Department of Cardiac Surgery, Innsbruck, Austria ORCID: 0000-0002-7656-5812

Diana Reser

Hirslanden Heart Clinic of Zurich, Department of Cardiac and Thoracic Vascular Surgery, Zurich, Switzerland

Ali Kutsal

Sami Ulus Children Hospital Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

ORCID: 0000-0003-2742-3209

Harald Kaemmerer German Heart Centre, Munich, Germany

Fausto Pinto Director of Lisbon Cardiovascular Institute, Portugal ORCID: 0000-0001-6983-2292

Jose Luis Pomar

Hospital Clinico de Barcelona, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Barcelona, Spain

(D) ORCID: 0000-0002-0770-0515

Frank W. Selke

Chief of Cardiothoracic Surgery at Brown Medical School, Rhode Island, USA

Stephan Schueler Tyne Freeman Hospital, Department for Cardiothoracic Surgery Newcastle, United Kingdom ORCID: 0000-0002-5702-8851

Joseph E. Bavaria Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, USA

ORCID: 0000-0001-7145-0453

Lazar Davidovic Belgrade Medical School Cardiovascular Surgery, Belgrade, Serbia

Şafak Alpat Birmingham Chidren's Hospital Pediatric Cardiovascular Surgery, Birmingham, UK

© ORCID: 0000-0002-8690-4494

Atike Tekeli Kunt

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Ankara Numune Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

ORCID: 0000-0001-9764-7393

Piotr Kasprzak

University Hospital Regensburg, Director of Vascular Surgery, Regensburg, Germany

DRCID: 0000-0003-4926-5213

Akihiko Ikeda

Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Tsukuba Medical Center Hospital, Tsukuba, Japan

Claudia Walther

University Clinic Frankfurt, Department of Cardiology, Frankfurt, Germany

Rhoia Neidenbach

University of Vienna, Department of Sportmedicine, Vienna, Austria

(D) ORCID: 0000-0003-1913-1150

www.jucvm.com



Publisher Contact

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Türkiye Phone: +90 (530) 177 30 97 / +90 (539) 307 32 03 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr | Publisher Certificate Number: 14521 Online Publishing Date: March 2025 E-ISSN: 3062-0392 International scientific journal published quarterly.





Erdem Silistreli

Dokuz Eylül University, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, İzmir, Türkiye

ORCID: 0000-0001-6938-2332

Bektaş Battaloğlu

İzmir Özel Sağlık Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, İzmir, Türkiye

ORCID: 0000-0003-1221-8122

Onur Saydam

Karaman State Hospital Cardiovascular Surgery / Karaman / Türkiye

ORCID: 0000-0002-8968-6672

Emre Doğan

Trabzon Ahi Evren Cardiovascular Surgery Hospital, Trabzon, Türkiye

© ORCID: 0000-0002-5394-1010

Taylan Adademir

Kartal Koşuyolu Resarch Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye ORCID: 0000-0003-1643-3751

Orçun Gürbüz

Meddem Hospital, Clinic of Cardiovascular and Endovascular Surgery, Bursa, Türkiye

DRCID: 0000-0001-8553-7939

İlhan Mavioğlu

İrmet Hospital, Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, Tekirdağ, Türkiye

DRCID: 0000-0002-8466-9873

İbrahim Erdinç

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, İzmir Bozyaka Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, İzmir, Türkiye

© ORCID: 0000-0003-1659-2859

Mustafa Tok

Uludağ University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bursa, Türkiye

DRCID: 0000-0003-2985-1709

Onur Selçuk Göksel

İstanbul University İstanbul Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, İstanbul, Türkiye

DRCID: 0000-0001-8103-3709

Özcan Gür

Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Tekirdağ, Türkiye

© ORCID: 0000-0001-9398-3402

Selami Gürkan

Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Tekirdağ, Türkiye

DRCID: 0000-0001-5391-9270

Ufuk Tütün

Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Zonguldak, Türkiye

© ORCID: 0000-0002-9661-7632

Utkan Sevük

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Diyarbakır Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Diyarbakır, Türkiye

© ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-7429-5997

Kanat Özışık

Ankara Bilkent City Hospital, Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

© ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-2943-0541

Serdar Günaydın

Ankara Bilkent City Hospital, Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

© ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9717-9793





Journal of Updates in Cardiovascular Medicine use both "Editorial review" and "blind peer review" policy.

Barış Akça

İnönü University School of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Malatya, Türkiye

Rezan Aksoy

Kartal Koşuyolu Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiothoracic Surgery, İstanbul, Türkiye

Mustafa Aldemir

Afyon Kocatepe University, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Afyon, Türkiye

Şafak Alpat

Birmingham Chidren's Hospital, Pediatric Cardiovascular Surgery, Birmingham, UK

Elena Zapata-Arriaza

Hospital Universitario Virgen del Rocío, Instituto de Biomedicina de Sevilla, Sevilla, Spain

Mehmet Atay

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Bakırköy Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, İstanbul, Türkiye

Hakan Aydın

Sami Ulus Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

Ahmet Çağrı Aykan

Ahi Evren Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiology, Trabzon, Türkiye

Güliz Erdem

İstanbul Kent University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Cardiology, İstanbul, Türkiye

Vedat Bakuy

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Bakırköy Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, İstanbul, Türkiye

Deniz Çevirme

Kartal Koşuyolu Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiothoracic Surgery, İstanbul, Türkiye

Ferit Çiçekcioğlu

Bozok University Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Sugery, Yozgat, Türkiye

Ertan Demirdaş

Bozok University Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Yozgat, Türkiye

Yüksel Dereli

Necmettin Erbakan University Meram Medical Faculty Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Konya, Türkiye

Vehbi Doğan

Sami Ulus Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Cardiology, Ankara, Türkiye

Hüseyin Ede

Bozok University Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Yozgat, Türkiye

İlker Ertuğrul

Sami Ulus Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Cardiology, Ankara, Türkiye

Niyazi Görmüş

Necmettin Erbakan University Meram Medical Faculty Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Konya, Türkiye

Adem Güler

Gülhane Military Medical Academy, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

Mustafa Gülgün

Gülhane Military Medical Academy, Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Ankara, Türkiye

James B. Hermiller

The Ohio State University College of Medicine, Department of Cardiology, Ohio, USA

Akihiko Ikeda

Tsukuba Medical Center Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Tsukuba, Japan



Editorial Consultants



Mehmet Kalender

Derince Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, Kocaeli, Türkiye

Osman Kayapınar

Düzce University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiology, Düzce, Türkiye

Alper Kepez

Marmara University Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiology, İstanbul, Türkiye

Levent Korkmaz

Ahi Evren Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Trabzon, Türkiye

Ulaş Kumbasar

Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

José Luis Serrano Martínez

University Hospital of Granada, Department of Internal Medicine, Granada, Spain

Nooredin Mohammadi

Iran University of Medical Sciences, Department of Cardiology, Demand for Health Care, Tehran, Iran

Murat Özeren

Mersin University School of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Mersin, Türkiye

Emre Özker

Başkent University School of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, İstanbul, Türkiye

Gonzalo Luis Alonso Salinas

Marcelo Sanmartín of Hospital Universitario Ramón y Cajal, Department of Cardiology, Madrid, Spain

Mustafa Seren

Ankara 29 Mayıs State Hospital, Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

Ömer Tanyeli

Necmettin Erbakan University Meram Medical Faculty Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Konya, Türkiye

Olivier Villemain

Université Paris Descartes, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Department of Psychology, Paris, France

Ali Ümit Yener

Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Çanakkale, Türkiye

Dilek Yeşilbursa

Uludağ University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiology, Bursa, Türkiye

Owner

© Heart and Health Foundation of Türkiye

Administration Office

Şair Eşref Bulvarı, 1402 Sk. No: 2/2 Özbaş Apt. Alsancak / Izmir / Türkiye Phone: + 90 232 464 19 63 / Fax: +90 232 464 24 70 e-mail: info@oztekinoto.com | info@tksv.com

Please refer to the journal's webpage (https://www.jucvm.com/) for "Ethical Policy", "Instructions to Authors" and "Instructions to Reviewers".

The editorial and publication process of the Journal of Updates in Cardiovascular Medicine are shaped in accordance with the guidelines of the ICMJE, COPE, WAME, CSE and EASE, and follow their recommendations. Journal of Updates in Cardiovascular Medicine is indexed in ScopeMed, EBSCO Central & Eastern European Academic Source, Gale, Embase, TÜRK MEDLINE, ProQuest, IdealOnline, J-GATE, Reaxys and ULAKBİM.

The journal is published online.

Owner: Heart and Health Foundation of Türkiye

Responsible Manager: Öztekin Oto



Table of Contents



Volume 13 Issue 1 March 2025

Review Articles

Fetal Cardiac Interventions: A Review of The Current Literature | 1

Ebru Aypar

Improving Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting in Women: Difficulties and Outcomes | 8

Jessica B. Briscoe, Jennifer S. Lawton

Research Articles

Quantitative Ultrasonographic Measures of Common Carotid Artery Blood Flow Velocity in Individuals with Prediabetes | 17

Okan Tanrıverdi

Septal Myectomy without Correction of Moderate and Severe Mitral Regurgitation | 23

Evgeny E. Kobzev, Evgeny V. Rosseykin, Vizil Desai

The Dynamic Relationship Among Atrial Pacing, Premature Atrial Beats, Mode Switching, and Atrial High-Rate Episodes in Patients with Sick Sinus Syndrome | 33

Barış Yaylak, Fuat Polat, Cuma Süleymanoğlu

Potential Protective Effects of Boldine in Rat with an Experimental Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Model | 41

Hüseyin Demirtaş, Alperen Kutay Yıldırım, Abdullah Özer, Ali Doğan Dursun, Şaban Cem Sezen, Zeynep Yığman, Ayşegül Küçük, Mustafa Arslan

Case Reports

Late Diaphragmatic Paralysis After Atrial Fibrillation Cryoablation | 53

Özge Çakmak Karaaslan, Ümit Güray

Mitral Anterior Leaflet Perforation Due to Jet Flow in Aortic Valve Insufficiency | 57

Mehmet Işık, Muhammet B Cavlak, Serkan Yıldırım, Yüksel Dereli





J Updates Cardiovasc Med 2025;13(1):1-7

DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2024-39-120

Fetal Cardiac Interventions: A Review of The Current Literature

🛛 Ebru Aypar

Hacettepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Cardiology, Ankara, Türkiye

Abstract

Congenital heart disease (CHD) is the most common birth defect. Fetal cardiac intervention (FCI) is a novel and evolving field that has enabled us to modify the progression of CHDs and favorably change the postnatal outcomes by altering in utero anatomy and physiology. FCIs are only indicated in specific CHDs; CHDs diagnosed during midgestation that may progress and worsen in utero and cause fetal mortality and neonatal morbidity/mortality may benefit from FCI. These include fetal aortic valvuloplasty in severe aortic stenosis evolving to hypoplastic left heart syndrome (HLHS), fetal pulmonary valvuloplasty in pulmonary atresia with intact ventricular septum, critical pulmonary stenosis, atrial septoplasty and/or atrial stent in established HLHS, and transposition of great vessels with restricted or intact atrial septum. This review focuses on commonly performed interventions, candidate selection criteria, technical details, and outcomes of these procedures, which have been previously reported in the literature. Literature data about FCIs have demonstrated that technical success has improved, FCIs have limited maternal risks, and they do not cause any significant complications. Careful selection of candidates suitable for FCI, a multi-team approach, and performing these interventions in specialized centers and in collaborations will further improve the results.

Keywords: Congenital heart disease, fetal intervention, fetal aortic valvuloplasty, fetal pulmonary valvuloplasty, hypoplastic left heart syndrome, pulmonary atresia with intact ventricular septum

Introduction

Congenital heart disease (CHD) is the most common birth defect, with an incidence of approximately 6 per 1000 live births⁽¹⁾. Advances in fetal imaging have provided a better understanding of the evolution of CHDs in utero. Some CHDs may progress during fetal life and may cause significant morbidity and mortality. Fetal cardiac intervention (FCI) is a novel and evolving field



Address for Correspondence: Ebru Aypar, Hacettepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Cardiology, Ankara, Türkiye e-mail: ebruaypar@gmail.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-1371-8399

Received: 01.11.2024 Accepted: 03.01.2025 Epub: 13.01.2025 Publication Date: 25.03.2025

Cite this article as: Aypar E, Fetal cardiac interventions: a review of the current literatüre. J Updates Cardiovasc Med. J Updates Cardiovasc Med. 2025;13(1):1-7.

DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2024-39-120



Copyright[©] 2025 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Heart and Health Foundation of Turkey (HHFT). This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND) International License.



that has enabled us to modify the progression of CHDs and favorably change postnatal outcomes by altering in utero anatomy and physiology.

FCIs are only indicated in specific CHDs; CHDs diagnosed during midgestation that may progress and worsen in utero and cause fetal mortality and neonatal morbidity/mortality may benefit from FCI. These include fetal aortic valvuloplasty (FAV) in severe aortic stenosis (AS) evolving to hypoplastic left heart syndrome (HLHS), fetal pulmonary valvuloplasty in pulmonary atresia with intact ventricular septum PA/IVS, critical pulmonary stenosis (CPS), atrial septoplasty and/or atrial stent in HLHS, and transposition of great vessels with restricted or intact atrial septum⁽²⁻⁵⁾. This review focuses on these commonly performed interventions, selection criteria of the candidates, technical details, and outcomes of these procedures that have been previously reported in the literature. FCs have started in 1975 to treat fetal ventricular tachycardia⁽⁶⁾. In 1987, the first fetal cardiac pacing was performed in a fetus with complete heart block and hydrops fetalis⁽⁷⁾. The first fetal aortic balloon valvuloplasty was performed in 1991, and the infant eventually underwent biventricular (BiV) repair⁽⁸⁾.

FAV In Severe AS with Evolving HLHS

FAV is the most commonly performed FCI. Severe AS may initially present as midgestational dilation and dysfunction. Subsequently, slowing and ultimate cessation of left ventricular (LV) growth is observed, leading to HLHS⁽⁹⁾. Despite advances in the surgical management of HLHS, medium-term survival is approximately 70%, and HLHS still causes significant morbidity, including arrhythmias, neurocognitive impairment, hepatic dysfunction, and fontan-specific complications (proteinlosing enteropathy, plastic bronchitis etc.) after surgery. In fetuses with severe AS, if FAV is performed at an appropriate period, it may stop or reduce progression to HLHS, and reduction of LV pressure load may prevent the formation of endocardial and myocardial fibrosis. The aim of FCI is to achieve BiV circulation and improve postnatal outcomes(10,11).



Selection of Candidates

The main challenge in performing FAV is to identify fetuses that will progress to HLHS if left untreated. Mäkikallio et al.⁽¹²⁾ demonstrated that significant LV dysfunction, narrow aortic jet with a Doppler velocity >2 m/s, retrograde aortic arch flow, left-to-right flow across the patent foramen ovale, monophasic mitral inflow, neo-development of mitral regurgitation, and abnormal pulmonary vein flow are predictive of progression to HLHS at birth. The mitral valve, aortic valve, ascending aortic diameter Z-score, and LV length were not found to be significant parameters of progression to HLHS at birth.

Careful selection of candidates for whom LV recovery may support systemic circulation after FAV is also important. Fetuses with LV hypoplasia (long-axis Z-score <-2), mitral valve hypoplasia (Z-score <-2) or low LV pressure assessed by mitral regurgitation or AS jet velocity (estimated LV pressure <30 mmHg) should not undergo FCI, as these factors are predictors of low probability of LV recovery and strong predictors of single ventricle circulation despite technically successful FAV. McElhinney et al.⁽¹³⁾ presented a multivariate scoring system to predict criteria for a BiV outcome. At least four of the following criteria predicted a BiV outcome: (1) LV long-axis Z-score >0, (2) LV short-axis Z-score >0, (3) aortic annulus Z-score >-3.5, (4) mitral valve annulus Z-score >-2, and (5) AS (or mitral regurgitation) with a maximum systolic gradient of $\geq 20 \text{ mmHg}^{(13)}$. In 2018, Friedman et al.⁽¹⁴⁾ analyzed 123 fetuses that underwent FAV for evolving HLHS at Boston Children's Hospital between 2000 and 2015. They reported that LV pressure >47 mmHg and ascending aortic Z-score >0.57 are predictors of BiV circulation with 92% probabality. Fetuses with a lower LV pressure or mitral valve Z-score <0.1 and mitral valve inflow time Z-score <-2 were unlikely to have BiV circulation with a 9% probability. The remaining fetuses had an intermediate (\sim 40-60%) probability of BiV circulation.





The procedure is performed percutaneously with ultrasound guidance under regional (spinal/epidural) or local anesthesia or both between 21 and 32 gestational weeks. The most important aspect of successful procedure is the fetal position, with the fetal chest lying anteriorly. Intramuscular fetal anesthesia and muscle relaxants are used to facilitate fetal pain relief and appropriate fetal positioning. With ultrasound guidance, passing through the maternal abdomen, uterine wall, anterior fetal chest, and LV, 18-G/19-G Hawkins Atkins needle/Chiba needle/ M3 coaxial needle and stylet is advanced into the LV apex. A 0.014" coronary guidewire is then maneuvered across the LV outflow tract, and the Maverick/Hiyuru/ Relysis coronary artery balloon is positioned at the aortic annulus (Figure 1). The balloon-to-annulus ratio of 1-1.2 (range: 0.7-1.4) provides the best results. The balloon is then inflated, usually twice. After the procedure, technical success was confirmed by Colozr-Doppler findings of a broader jet of anterograde flow across the aortic valve and/or new aortic regurgitation⁽¹⁰⁾. Complications include pericardial effusion, tamponade, and bradycardia, which require immediate intervention with pericardiocentesis



Figure 1. Ultrasound view showing an 18-G needle passing through the maternal abdomen, uterus, fetal anterior chest, and left ventricular apex (24). The coronary guidewire was advanced through the needle, passing through the aortic valve and ascending aorta. LV: Left ventricular, AV: Aortic valve, AA: Ascending aorta

or intracardiac administration of epinephrine or atropine, respectively. Fetal aortic regurgitation is the most common complication that resolves within a few weeks.

In 2014, Freud et al.⁽¹¹⁾ analyzed the short- and intermediate-term survival of fetuses who underwent FAV in Boston Children's Hospital between 2000-2013. They reported a technical success rate of 77% in 100 FAV procedures, fetal demise rate of 11%, and 43% of these patients underwent BiV repair. Among all live-born patients, those who underwent a technically successful intervention were significantly more likely to have a BiV outcome than those in whom the FAV was unsuccessful (odds ratio, 5.0; 95% confidence interval, 1.3-18.8; p=0.01). The 10-year survival of the cohort was 72%, which is comparable to the 10-year survival reported for patients with HLHS in other contemporary series.

According to the International Fetal Cardiac Intervention Registry (IFCIR) data in 2015, which included FCI results between 2001 and 2014, in which 18 centers participated, a technical success rate of 81% was achieved in additional 86 FAV procedures, and a fetal demise rate of 17%. In this series, there was a suggestion



Figure 2. Ultrasound image showing an 18-G needle passing through the maternal abdomen, uterus, fetal anterior chest wall, and right ventricle (24). LV: Left ventricle, PA: Pulmonary artery, PV: Pulmonary valve, RV: Right ventricular, 18-G: 18-Gauge





of improved survival to discharge with BiV circulation; 42.9% in the FAV group versus 19.4% in patients in whom FAV was not performed or were technically unsuccessful, respectively⁽²⁾.

The largest reported series of FAVs (n=136) were from Boston Children's Hospital. In 2018, Friedman et al.⁽¹⁴⁾ evaluated whether technical success and BiV outcomes after FAV have changed from an earlier (2000-2008) to a more recent (2009-2015) era. In this cohort, the technical success rate was initially 73% and increased to 94%, whereas the fetal demise rate was initially 9.8% and reduced to 6%. BiV circulation was achieved in 41% of live births, with a higher rate of 59%, more recently.

None of the previous studies reported maternal mortality or significant complications related to FCI. Approximately 50% of patients with BiV circulation require aortic valve balloon dilation within the first few years of life, whereas the rest require multiple cardiac catheterizations and surgeries. The postnatal evaluation of BiV post-FAV patients demonstrated that these patients still have LV systolic/diastolic dysfunction and aortic and mitral valve abnormalities. Most patients require interventions after birth, including interventions to the aortic and mitral valve and aortic arch, and endocardial fibroelastosis resection⁽¹¹⁾. LV diastolic dysfunction/non-compliance is common, and the development of restrictive LV physiology with left atrial (LA) and pulmonary hypertension remains a concern⁽¹¹⁾.

In conclusion, the proportion of patients achieving BiV outcomes after FAV has improved because of the improved technical success rate and modification of the selection criteria. Although the initial short-term results and postnatal outcomes are encouraging, medium- and long-term survival data are not yet available.

Pulmonary Valve (PV) Perforation and FPV in PA/IVS or CPS

In fetuses with PA/IVS or CPS, elevated right ventricular (RV) afterload results in RV hypertrophy and

reduced compliance, a lack of flow through the right side of the heart, which leads to progressive RV and tricuspid valve (TV) growth arrest, and secondary damage of the RV myocardium. Most fetuses with PA/IVS or CPS with hypoplastic right heart syndrome survive until birth, but they have high morbidity and mortality in postnatal life. In selected fetuses, in utero FPV may lead to a larger RV by reducing afterload and increased filling, thus improving the likelihood of a BiV outcome. The procedure is usually performed between 21 and 32 weeks of gestation in fetuses with membranous PA/IVS or CPS. The exclusion criteria were muscular atresia of the right ventricular outflow tract (RVOT), severe TR with low velocity (<2.5 m/s), severe fetal edema, and presence of large RV sinusoids.

Technical Aspects

Fetal pulmonary valvuloplasty is associated with more technical challenges than FAV. Unlike the LV dilation found in severe AS with evolving HLHS, the RV in these fetuses is small, hypertrophied, and the RV is located under the sternum. The fetal position is again critical for the success of the procedure. The procedure is performed percutaneously with ultrasound guidance under maternal regional (spinal/epidural) or local anesthesia or both. With ultrasound confirmation, an 18 G or 19 G needle is passed through the maternal abdomen, uterus, amniotic cavity, anterior fetal chest wall, and advanced into the RVOT. The RVOT is approached through an intercostal space next to the sternum or by a subcostal approach (Figure 2). The cannula is directed toward the PV and inserted into the RVOT with 10-15-degree angulation. A balloonannulus ratio of 1.2-1.3 gives the best results. A balloon length of 8-10 mm is usually preferred to prevent RV free wall dilatation⁽¹⁵⁾. The balloon is placed across the PV and dilated to a balloon-to-valve ratio of at least 80%. Technical success was defined as improved anterograde blood flow through the PV, with subsequent improvement in anterograde flow on color Doppler imaging with or without pulmonary regurgitation. Complications include hemopericardium and bradycardia.



Selection of Candidates and Outcomes

Compared with FAV, there are fewer data on the predictors of disease progression in PA/IVS; therefore, selection criteria are not well established.

TV, Z-score and RV size assessment are currently used. Fetuses with TV Z-score >-2.5 usually have BiV circulation with postnatal interventions, whereas those with TV Z-score <-4 have severe RV hypoplasia that is unlikely to support BiV circulation after FPV. Fetuses with TV Z-score between -2.5 and -4 and qualitatively mild or moderate RV hypoplasia are candidates for FPV.

Gómez et al.⁽¹⁶⁾ reported that tricuspid /mitral annulus ratio (TV/MV) ≤ 0.83 , RV/LV length ratio ≤ 0.64 , pulmonary annulus/aortic annulus ratio ≤ 0.75 , tricuspid inflow duration/cardiac cycle length $\leq 36.5\%$ can predict a single ventricular outcome with 100% sensitivity and 98% specificity if three of the four criteria are fulfilled⁽¹⁶⁾.

Some centers have reported good results. Tulzer et al.⁽¹⁷⁾ assessed the immediate effects of FPV on fetal RV size and function, in utero RV growth, and postnatal outcomes. Between 2000 and 2017, 35 FPVs were performed on 23 fetuses with PA/IVS (n=15) or CPS (n=8). The median gestational age was 28+4 weeks. There was no fetal demise. Immediately 1-3 days after successful intervention, RV/ LV length and TV/MV ratios, RV filling time, and TVvelocity time integral × HR increased significantly, and TR velocity decreased significantly. In fetuses followed longitudinally to delivery (n=5), RV/LV length and TV/ MV ratios improved further or remained constant until birth. Fetuses with unsuccessful intervention (n=2) became univentricular; all others (n=21) had either a BiV (n=15), one-and-a-half ventricular (n=3), or still undetermined (n=3) outcome. Five of the nine fetuses with a predicted non-BiV outcome, in which the procedure was successful, became BiV, while two of the nine had an undetermined circulation. The authors concluded that FPV immediately led to a larger RV and thus improved the likelihood of BiV outcomes even in fetuses with a predicted non-BiV circulation.



In another single-center study in 2023, FPVs were performed in 13 fetuses with PA/IVS (n=10) or CPS $(n=3)^{(18)}$. The median gestational age was 28 ± 4 weeks. All interventions were successful, and no fetal demise were encountered. Pericardial effusion and persistent bradycardia occurred in 15.4% and 38.5% of patients, respectively. The median follow-up period was 11.5 months (6-17). The median postnatal TV Z-score was 1.57 (1.71-0.83). Postnatally, six patients underwent percutaneous pulmonary valvuloplasty and patent ductus arteriosus stenting at the same time (BiV circulation were achieved in four, two had undetermined circulation), three patients were treated with pulmonary balloon valvuloplasty alone, and one patient did not need any intervention.

According to IFCIR data in 2020, in which 14 centers have participated, between 2001 and 2018, among 70 fetuses who were evaluated as PA/IVS and CPS, 58 underwent FPV, and in 12 fetuses, FPV was not attempted⁽¹⁹⁾. The median gestational age was 26.1 weeks (21.9-31.0) and fetal complications occurred in 55% of the patients (most common pericardial effusion requiring drainage (48%) or bradycardia requiring treatment (36%), including 7 deaths and 2 delayed fetal losses (12%). Among the fetuses who had FPV, 41/58 patients (71%) had technically succesful and 15/58 patients (26%) had unsuccessful intervention, and 2 (58) had unknown data. Measurement of TV increased by 0.32±0.17 mm/week from intervention to birth among those who underwent successful FPV and were higher compared with those who did not have FPV or unsuccessful FPV (0.19±0.15 mm/ week). Among 60 liveborn with known outcomes, there was a higher percentage of patients with BiV circulation following successful FPV compared to those who had no FPV or unsuccessful FPV (87% vs. 43%).

In conclusion, FPV may be beneficial for PA/IVS or CPS, although the rates of technically unsuccessful procedures and procedure-related complications, including fetal loss, are significant. Because the FCI criteria for FPV are extremely variable, comparison of patients with intervention and nonintervention are challenging.





Therefore, there is a need for prospective case-controlled studies on fetuses with PA/IVS and CPS using uniform criteria for FPV.

Atrial Septoplasty and/or Atrial Stenting in HLHS with Intact or Restricted Atrial Septum (IAS)

HLHS with intact or restricted IAS causes increased LA and increased pulmonary vascular pressure, which increases morbidity and mortality after stage 1 palliation. These patients have higher mortality risks due to increased LA pressure and low cardiac output than HLHS patients with unrestricted atrial septum. Therefore, atrial septoplasty and/or atrial stenting should be performed in the second trimester to prevent pulmonary vascular changes.

Selection of Candidates

The indications for intervention include restricted/ intact IAS (≤ 1 mm atrial communication), prominent pulmonary vein flow reversal, and pulmonary venous Doppler forward/reverse velocity time integral ratio $<3^{(20)}$.

Technical Aspects and Outcomes

The right or left atrium is punctured perpendicular to the interatrial septum with an 18-G/17-G needle, the stylet, or a 22-G Chiba needle, and atrial septoplasty is performed. Then, a short-length stent (3.5x13 mm) can be inserted. Complications include hemopericardium, stent malposition, and embolization.

According to IFCIR data in 2015, atrial septoplasty was performed in 37 fetuses, and 65% of the patients had successful intervention. However, there was no difference in discharge survival between FCI and non-FCI fetuses⁽²⁾.

The largest single-center experience described 21 atrial septoplasty interventions, 13/21 interventions resulted in an atrial communication ≥ 2.5 mm, and the pulmonary vein Doppler profile improved in all such patients. The authors concluded that creation of >3-mm atrial communication was associated with higher postnatal oxygen saturation and better outcomes after stage 1 palliation⁽²¹⁾.

Another IFCIR study evaluated 47 fetuses who had FCI; 27 with atrial septoplasty alone (atrial perforation/ balloon dilation) and 20 with atrial septal stent placement⁽²²⁾. The procedural sucess rate was 77%, fetal complications were common, and procedure-related fetal demise occurred in 13%. Cesarean delivery, planned immediate postnatal intervention, restrictive foramen ovale (FO), and neonatal resuscitation were less common in those who underwent procedurally successful FCI than in those with unsuccessful FCI or no FCI. There was a trend toward stents performing better than septoplasties in maintaining a nonrestrictive FO at delivery after procedural success (75% versus 39%). The 1-year survival rate was higher (59%) in FCI fetuses with unrestricted FO at birth compared to in non-FCI fetuses (19%).

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis in 2024, which included 31 studies, compared the results of fetal atrial septal intervention (FASI) and expectant management (EM) in fetuses diagnosed with HLHS and intact/restrictive IAS⁽²³⁾. Among 746 fetuses, 123 fetuses had FASI and 623 fetuses had EM. Among the fetuses who had FASI, 87% had a technically successful intervention. Age at neonatal death was higher in the FASI group than in the EM group (17 days vs. 7.2 days). The postnatal atrial restrictive septum was lower in the FASI group (38%), compared to the EM group (88%). Neonatal outcomes, including live birth, neonatal death, and survival to hospital discharge, were similar between the groups.

Conclusion

In conclusion, more studies concerning short, medium and long-term benefits of fetal atrial septoplasty and/or atrial stenting in fetuses with HLHS and intact/restricted IAS are necessary.

We have recently reported our initial experience of FCI in our country⁽²⁴⁾. We performed a total of five FCIs at our university hospital between 26+3 and 28+2 gestational weeks. The procedures were technically successful in two fetuses with CPS and one fetus with critical AS. FPV



was unsuccessful in a fetus with PA/IVS. No fetal death occurred, and there were no procedure-related significant maternal complications. Three interventions were complicated by fetal bradycardia and pericardial effusion necessitating treatment.

International registry data have demonstrated that FCIs have limited maternal risks and can improve technical success. Careful selection of candidates suitable for FCI, a multi-team approach, and performing these interventions in specialized centers and in collaborations will further improve the results.

Footnotes

Conflict of Interest: The author declare no conflicts of interest concerning the authorship or publication of this article.

Financial Disclosure: This research received no specific grants from any funding agency in the commercial or not-for-profit sectors.

References

- 1. Hoffman JI, Kaplan S. The incidence of congenital heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2002;39:1890-900.
- Moon-Grady AJ, Morris SA, Belfort M, Chmait R, Dangel J, et al. International fetal cardiac intervention registry: a worldwide collaborative description and preliminary outcomes. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;66:388-99.
- 3. Gellis L, Tworetzky W. The boundaries of fetal cardiac intervention: expand or tighten?. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2017;22:399-403.
- Friedman KG, Tworetzky W. Fetal cardiac interventions: where do we stand? Arch Cardiovasc Dis. 2020;113:121-8.
- Halder V, Ghosh S, Shrimanth YS, et al. Fetal cardiac intervention and fetal cardiac surgery: where are we in 2st century? Am J Cardiovasc Dis. 2021;11:642-6.
- Eibschitz I, Abinader EG, Klein A, et al. Intrauterine diagnosis and control of fetal ventricular arrhythmia during labor. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1975;122:597-600.
- Carpenter RJ Jr, Strasburger JF, Garson A Jr, et al. Engelhardt HT Jr. Fetal ventricular pacing for hydrops secondary to complete atrioventricular block. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1986;8:1434-6.
- Maxwell D, Allan L, Tynan MJ. Balloon dilatation of the aortic valve in the fetus: a report of two cases. Br Heart J. 199;65:256-8.
- Simpson JM, Sharland GK. Natural history and outcome of aortic stenosis diagnosed prenatally. Heart. 1997;77:205-10.

- Tworetzky W, Wilkins-Haug L, Jennings RW, et al. Balloon dilation of severe aortic stenosis in the fetus: potential for prevention of hypoplastic left heart syndrome: candidate selection, technique, and results of successful intervention. Circulation. 2004;110:2125-31.
- Freud LR, McElhinney DB, Marshall AC, et al. Fetal aortic valvuloplasty for evolving hypoplastic left heart syndrome: postnatal outcomes of the first 100 patients. Circulation. 2014;130:638-45.
- Mäkikallio K, McElhinney DB, Levine JC, et al. Fetal aortic valve stenosis and the evolution of hypoplastic left heart syndrome: patient selection for fetal intervention. Circulation. 2006;113:1401-5.
- McElhinney DB, Marshall AC, Wilkins-Haug LE, et al. Predictors of technical success and postnatal biventricular outcome after in utero aortic valvuloplasty for aortic stenosis with evolving hypoplastic left heart syndrome. Circulation. 2009;120:1482-90.
- Friedman KG, Sleeper LA, Freud LR, et al. Improved technical success, postnatal outcome and refined predictors of outcome for fetal aortic valvuloplasty. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2018;52:212-20.
- Tworetzky W, McElhinney DB, Marx GR, et al. In utero valvuloplasty for pulmonary atresia with hypoplastic right ventricle: techniques and outcomes. Pediatrics. 2009;124:510-8.
- Gómez Montes E, Herraiz I, Mendoza A, et al. Fetal intervention in right outflow tract obstructive disease: selection of candidates and results. Cardiol Res Pract. 2012;2012:592403.
- Tulzer A, Arzt W, Gitter R, et al. Immediate effects and outcome of inutero pulmonary valvuloplasty in fetuses with pulmonary atresia with intact ventricular septum or critical pulmonary stenosis. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2018;52:230-7.
- Luo G, Zhang B, Wang D, et al. Fetal pulmonary valvuloplasty for pulmonary atresia with intact ventricular septum: a single-center clinical experience. Chin Med J (Engl). 2023;136:740-2.
- Hogan WJ, Grinenco S, Armstrong A, et al. Fetal cardiac intervention for pulmonary atresia with intact ventricular septum: International Fetal Cardiac Intervention Registry. Fetal Diagn Ther. 2020:1-9.
- Schidlow DN, Freud L, Friedman K, et al. Fetal interventions for structural heart disease. Echocardiography. 2017;34:1834-41.
- Marshall AC, Levine J, Morash D, et al. Results of in utero atrial septoplasty in fetuses with hypoplastic left heart syndrome. Prenat Diagn. 2008;28:1023-8.
- 22. Jantzen DW, Moon-Grady AJ, Morris SA, et al. Hypoplastic left heart syndrome with intact or restrictive atrial septum: a report from the international fetal cardiac intervention registry. Circulation. 2017;136:1346-9.
- 23. Mustafa HJ, Aghajani F, Jawwad M, et al. Fetal cardiac intervention in hypoplastic left heart syndrome with intact or restrictive atrial septum, systematic review, and meta-analysis. Prenat Diagn. 2024;44:747-57.
- Deren O, Aykan HH, Ozyuncu O, et al. Fetal cardiac interventions: firstyear experience of a tertiary referral center in Turkey. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2023;49:1525-31.





J Updates Cardiovasc Med 2025;13(1):8-16

DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2024.17.77

Improving Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting in Women: Difficulties and Outcomes

Dessica B. Briscoe, Dennifer S. Lawton

Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Department of Surgery, Division of Cardiac Surgery, Maryland, United States

Abstract

There continues to be a clear distinction between women and men after coronary surgery. Many argue that higher mortality, complication rate, and worse outcomes among women have been attributed to smaller artery size, higher technical complexity, and more comorbidities at the time of presentation. However, evidence of only a physiologic or anatomical reason for poor outcomes is severely lacking. In this paper, we review the sex differences in coronary artery bypass grafting, the influence of race and sex, and the choice of conduit on outcomes in women. Additionally, we elucidate strategies to improve outcomes, such as including female animals in basic science, enforcing the use of guideline-directed treatments, expanding women's representation in clinical trials, increasing the number of women researchers, and developing Centers of Excellence. This review not only highlights the outcomes and challenges of women undergoing coronary surgery but also proposes avenues for potential solutions to this ongoing issue.

Keywords: Cardiovascular surgery, coronary artery bypass grafting, coronary artery disease, gender, heart, multiple arterial grafting

Sex Differences in Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting Outcomes

Heart disease is the number one killer of women, and its incidence is increasing. More women than men died in the United States between 1984 and 2013 due to cardiovascular disease (Figure 1)^(1,2). Although deaths from cardiovascular disease decreased from 1980 to 2010 largely due to reductions in major risk factors and the



Address for Correspondence: Jessica B. Briscoe, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Department of Surgery, Division of Cardiac Surgery, Maryland, United States e-mail: jessicabbriscoe@gmail.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3308-4215 Received: 14.01.2025 Accepted: 28.02.2025 Publication Date: 25.03.2025

Cite this article as: Briscoe JB, Lawton JS. Improving coronary artery bypass grafting in women: difficulties and outcomes. J Updates Cardiovasc Med. 2025;13(1):8-16. DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2024.17.77

Copyright[©] 2025 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Heart and Health Foundation of Turkey (HHFT). This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND) International License.



usage of evidence-based medical therapies, the death rate since 2010 has been rising⁽²⁻⁴⁾. Ford and colleagues noted that the largest contribution to the reduction in death rate was attributed to secondary prevention and that coronary revascularization [with coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) or percutaneous intervention (PCI)] for stable or unstable coronary artery disease (CAD) accounted for 7% of the decline in death rate⁽⁴⁾. Notably, since 2010, there has been a steady increase in heart disease and mortality, secondary to increasing rates of obesity, diabetes, and hypertension⁽⁵⁾. While CABG use has declined due to increasing utilization of PCI, CABG is the preferred method in multi-vessel disease, left main disease, patients with diabetes who are appropriate CABG candidates, refractory angina, and patients unable to tolerate dual antiplatelet therapy^(6,7). More importantly, there has been a decrease in post-CABG mortality⁽⁸⁾. However, that effect has not been extended to women. Many studies have shown significant sex differences in CABG outcomes^(7,9-19). Women and non-white patients are less likely to receive guideline-directed medical and surgical



Figure 1. Yearly cardiovascular deaths in the United States in men and women

Mortality from cardiovascular disease in men and women in the United States from 1999 to 2016. The number of deaths were higher in women (orange line) compared to men (green line) from 1999 to 2016. Author made figure with data from Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. National Vital Statistics System, Mortality: Compressed Mortality File 1999-2016 on CDC WONDER Online Database, released June 2017 therapies despite a comparable benefit^(7,9-11,20-22). Women undergoing CABG tend to present with more risk factors and comorbidities, including hypertension, diabetes, and obesity, compared to men. In addition to being on average, ten years older, women present more frequently with a more severe angina class. Despite less extensive coronary disease (and more small vessel disease), women have greater disabling symptoms^(13,23). Notably, women are more likely to have a silent heart attack and to die within one year after their myocardial infarction (MI). These factors lead to higher postoperative morbidity and mortality rates in women. A meta analysis of 903,346 patients in randomized controlled trials (RCTs) found that women experienced an increase in operative mortality, late mortality, major adverse cardiovascular events, MI, stroke, and repeat revascularization after CABG, compared to men. However, there was no difference in operative or late mortality with the use of the off-pump technique or multiple arterial grafts (MAG)^(16,21). It should be noted that these studies do not clarify the definition of operative mortality as including intraoperative and perioperative deaths; however, our interpretation is that operative mortality includes any death, regardless of cause, occurring within 30 days after surgery.

While traditional risk factors for heart disease, such as diabetes, smoking, obesity, physical inactivity, hypertension, and dyslipidemia, are well known, unique risk factors in women, such as preterm delivery, hypertensive disorders of pregnancy, gestational diabetes, autoimmune disease, breast cancer treatment, and depression are important, nontraditional risk factors that must be recognized⁽¹⁵⁾ (Figure 2).

Many studies (retrospective, unadjusted) confirm higher operative mortality in women (up to 3 times that of men)^(8,19,24-30). However, studies with risk factor adjustment demonstrate contradictory findings. Several propensitymatched comparisons demonstrate no difference in operative mortality ^(14,17,19,31-34). In a study of 1743 patients from the STS database, women required more non-elective interventions, underwent less extensive revascularization,



Figure 2. Traditional and emerging non-traditional risk factors for cardiovascular disease in women An illustration of the increasing traditional risk factors among women, such as diabetes, smoking, obesity, physical inactivity hypertension. Additionally, there are emerging non-traditional ASCVD risk factors such as, preterm delivery, pregnancy complications like hypertensive disorders and gestational diabetes, autoimmune diseases, treatment for breast cancer and depression. Reproduced for Garcia et al.⁽¹⁵⁾. ASCVD: Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease

and were less frequently recipients of internal mammary artery grafting, suggesting that female sex itself influenced the extent of coronary artery revascularization and the use of internal thoracic artery grafting⁽¹²⁾. In a nationwide inpatient sample of 3.6 million propensity-matched patients between 2003 and 2016 undergoing intervention after acute MI, women (33% of the cohort) had higher morbidity, mortality, and longer length of stay, compared to men⁽¹⁸⁾. This difference persisted over 14 years across PCI and CABG. What is more concerning is that studies have highlighted that women receive fewer arterial grafts than men, potentially affecting long-term outcomes⁽⁹⁾.

Influence of Race and Sex on Outcomes

Research suggests that outcomes vary not only by sex but also by race, with disparities in access to care and postoperative outcomes. In a study of over 200,000 women hospitalized for ST-elevation myocardial infarction, non-caucasian women had higher in-hospital mortality and lower odds of PCI compared to other women⁽³⁵⁾. Additionally, the study found African-Americans were less likely to receive CABG or mechanical circulatory support⁽³⁵⁾. Another study from 1999 to 2014 documented that while overall CABG utilization decreased over the study period, and there was a general decline in postCABG mortality for all groups, women and black patients consistently exhibited higher mortality rates compared to their male and white counterparts⁽⁸⁾. A study of over a million patients from the Society of Thoracic Surgeons database similarly confirmed that black and female patients had higher odds of mortality and black patients had higher postoperative complications after CABG when compared to other groups⁽³⁶⁾. This research underscores the persistent need for tailored interventions to address these disparities and improve outcomes for all patients, especially those in historically marginalized groups.

The Role of Anatomic Differences in Women's CABG Outcomes

Sex differences in CABG outcomes are multifaceted, encompassing anatomic variations, such as smaller coronary arteries in women, which may complicate surgical procedures and affect the choice of conduit, potentially influencing long-term patency rates. The selection of conduit (arterial vs. venous) plays a crucial role, as women may benefit more from arterial grafts, which have shown better long-term outcomes but are underutilized in female patients. Several technical considerations have been proposed for the treatment of women with CAD (Figure 3).



The argument that smaller coronary arteries in women largely underlies the increase in operative mortality is not supported by multiple observations. Firstly, small coronary size is often considered a contraindication to off pump CABG, yet women fare better with off-pump CABG compared to men. In addition, the disparity in operative mortality in women lessens with age, and coronary size does not change with older age⁽¹⁹⁾. The time to construct a distal anastomosis has been demonstrated to be similar between women and men, suggesting that the technical challenge for smaller arteries does not take more time⁽¹²⁾. Factors contributing to the higher operative mortality in women are thus likely multifactorial and include comorbidities, older age compared to men at the time of CAD diagnosis, and potential bias in treatment.

Does Choice of Conduit Influence Outcomes

It has been evident since 1999 that there has been an underutilization of arterial grafts in women when compared to men⁽⁹⁾. Women have been shown to derive the same benefits from arterial and MAG compared to men^(10,20,37). However, women are less likely to receive left internal mammary artery (LIMA), right internal mammary artery, and radial artery grafts, when compared to men (Figure 4), and the female sex specifically has been associated with non-use of LIMA^(10,12,33,38-41). Compared with male patients, female patients are also less likely to have complete revascularization⁽⁹⁾. Several contemporary studies have confirmed these observations. In the Radial Artery Patency Study, the use of the radial artery to the right coronary or left circumflex artery territory was protective in women, and the patency was better than that of the vein⁽²²⁾. The use of the radial artery was associated with improved five-year survival in propensity-matched women^(37,39,42). Additionally, a study of 63,402 patients undergoing CABG found that MAG was associated with better outcomes among low-risk, but not high-risk, patients. Specifically, mortality was lower among men undergoing MAG, but not women, at seven years⁽³⁷⁾.



Figure 3. Technical considerations for coronary artery disease treatment in women

Multiple technical considerations have been suggested for the treatment of women with CAD. Reproduced from Gaudino et al.⁽¹¹⁾ with permission from Elsevier. CABG: Coronary artery bypass graft, CAD: Coronary artery disease, GDMT: Guideline-directed medical therapy, LV: Left ventricular, MI: Myocardial infarction



Strategies to Improve CABG Outcomes in Women

Improving outcomes for women undergoing CABG requires multifaceted strategies that address the unique challenges and disparities they face⁽⁴¹⁾ (Table 1). Delayed diagnosis, treatment conservatism, referral bias, and inaccurate patient and physician perception of risk, all contribute to mortality differences between male and female patients. The lack of angiographically significant CAD, lower utilization of guideline-directed surgical treatment (arterial grafts, of complete revascularization), lower utilization of guideline-directed medical treatment, and lack of involvement of women in clinical trials are also factors that lead to higher mortality in women after CABG^(7,37,41). Efforts to include more women in clinical trials and tailored approaches considering anatomic and physiologic differences are essential for improving outcomes for women in CABG.

Female Animals in Basic Science

The inclusion of female animals in basic science research is a crucial aspect of understanding gender differences in health and disease. While the National



Figure 4. Rates of internal mammary and radial artery utilization Use of arterial grafts in men and women between 2011 and 2019. The illustration shows 1,212,487 patients, women (red lines) and men (blue lines), undergoing CABG from the Society of Thoracic Surgeons (STS) database. The use of bilateral internal mammary artery (BIMA) as solid lines, radial artery graft is depicted as dashed lines, and left internal mammary artery (LIMA) as dotted lines. Women were less likely (significant for all conduits) to receive any arterial graft compared to men. Reproduced from Zwischenberger et al.(41)



Institute of Health (NIH) attempted to increase the enrollment of women in clinical trials in the 1990s, there has only recently been advocacy in the basic sciences^(43,44). The 2015 NIH Initiative on Rigor and Reproducibility dictates that a strong justification must be provided for applications proposing to study only one sex. The predominance of male animals in basic science animal models leads to a gap in knowledge regarding how biological sex influences disease processes and treatment outcomes. There has been a growing emphasis on the importance of including female animals in research to ensure findings are applicable to both sexes.

Guideline-Directed Medical and Surgical Treatment

Female patients with cardiovascular disease are more likely to receive guideline-recommended care when treated by a female physician⁽⁴⁵⁾. The 2021 ACC/AHA/ SCAI Guideline for Coronary Artery Revascularization published a class I recommendation for treatment decisions to be based on clinical indication and not on sex, race, or ethnicity⁽⁷⁾. In large part because of the overwhelming evidence, even after controlling for health care access, that once women and non-white patients enter into the health care system, they are less likely to receive reperfusion therapy, an invasive strategy, or revascularization compared with their white male counterparts⁽⁷⁾, it is clear there are disparities in treatment. More research is

 Table 1. Strategies to reduce mortality in women after coronary artery bypass grafting

Include animals of both sexes in basic science research to understand physiologic differences

Use guideline-directed optimal medical care

Use guideline-directed revascularization strategies including use of arterial conduits

Enroll more women in clinical trials

Surgeon specialization in coronary surgery for women

Establish centers for specialization in the treatment of women with cardiovascular disease

Strategies that can be undertaken to reduce mortality in women after CABG. Reproduced from Zwischenberger et al.(41). CABG: Coronary artery bypass grafting



desperately needed, on eliminating biased non-guidelinedirected care from health care systems. Women fare better with off-pump CABG; this technique should be considered. Arterial grafts have shown superior patency rates compared to venous grafts, and tailoring the choice of conduit to account for the anatomic and physiologic differences in women, such as smaller coronary arteries, could enhance outcomes. Specifically, MAG is associated with better outcomes⁽³⁷⁾. Women undergoing CABG often present with a higher burden of comorbidities, and a comprehensive approach to better manage these conditions preoperatively can improve postoperative outcomes. Coordinating the focus of multidisciplinary teams could optimize patients' health through medication management, diet and exercise modifications, and closer monitoring.

Enhanced Clinical Trials Representation

Increasing the participation of women in clinical trials is critical. Historically, women have been underrepresented in cardiovascular research, leading to a gap in understanding regarding the most effective treatments for women. By ensuring more balanced gender representation, studies can provide data that is more applicable to the female population, allowing for tailored treatment strategies. Thus, the recruitment and retention of female patients should be a major goal of randomized clinical trials⁽⁴⁶⁾. However, the guidelines for women have been based on research including only men, and there is generally a lack of data on women. The first RCTs on CABG included only men; however, sixteen percent of patients undergoing CABG were female overall⁽⁴⁷⁾. Only 13 STS Database studies from 2011-2019 (1,212,487 patients) were published, and first-time isolated CABG patients were only 25% women (307,145)⁽⁴¹⁾. In an analysis of 740 clinical trials focusing on cardiovascular disease between 2010 and 2017, 38% of the participants were women⁽⁴⁸⁾. This lack of representation risks development of ineffective therapies or unintended consequences of treatments in women⁽⁴⁹⁾.

Promoting Women Researchers in Cardiac Surgery

Encouraging and supporting women researchers in the field can bring new perspectives to addressing the gender disparities in CABG outcomes. The representation of female researchers is significantly lower than that of men in cardiac surgery clinical trials⁽⁴⁶⁾. Women researchers are more likely to investigate issues affecting female patients, potentially leading to innovations in treatment and care strategies tailored to women⁽⁵⁰⁾. In a 2022 study of US clinical trials, of the 266 principal investigators (PIs) that were cardiac surgeons, 6 were women, and women PIs had only 9.5% of all studies funded by industry, and not one woman PI had a clinical trial funded by the NIH⁽⁴⁶⁾. Although resources focus heavily on recruitment strategies and support of junior female researchers, the gender disparity increases significantly at every stage of women's careers, highlighting the need for better strategies for retention throughout a woman's career⁽⁵¹⁾.

Development of Centers of Excellence

Centers of Excellence (COE) have shown improved outcomes and patient satisfaction⁽⁵²⁾. The development of COE has the potential to greatly improve outcomes for women. One of many strategies to implement would be to increase patient-physician gender concordance. Female physicians caring for female patients improve patient probability of survival compared to male physicians treating female patients^(45,53). Physician-patient congruence increases patient satisfaction (54). Additionally, patients with a female physician have been shown to be more likely to receive guideline-directed medical therapy⁽⁵⁵⁾. In a study of the outcomes of surgeries performed by female surgeons, regardless of their surgical specialty, patients had significantly lower rates of 30-day mortality. readmission, or complication within 30 days when their surgery was performed by female surgeons ⁽⁵⁶⁾.

Establishing specialized centers focused on cardiovascular care for women can ensure that female patients receive the most advanced and tailored treatments





available^(37,58). Like centers of its kind in other specialties, these centers can serve as hubs for research and education, foster innovation in treatment approaches, and raise awareness about cardiovascular care needs of women^(52,59). Multidisciplinary teams that include cardiologists, surgeons, dietitians, rehabilitation specialists, and mental health professionals can provide focused holistic care for women undergoing CABG, but will require a concerted effort from healthcare providers, researchers, and policymakers⁽⁶⁰⁾. This approach ensures that all aspects of a patient's health are addressed, from surgical preparation to recovery and long-term health maintenance. COE allow for increased education of physicians and patients on the nuances of coronary disease and treatment in women.

Educating healthcare professionals about the sexspecific risks and outcomes associated with CABG can improve preoperative planning and postoperative care. Continuous medical education programs should include a review of the anatomic and physiologic differences between men and women, the impact of comorbidities, the nuances of patient management, and recent clinical trial evidence to ensure tailored and effective treatment strategies for women. This will empower women with better knowledge of their condition, treatment options, and the risks and benefits of CABG, which can help in shared decision-making. Optimizing outcomes by these methods involves comprehensive strategies that extend beyond surgical techniques⁽⁴⁷⁾ (Table 2).

Recently, the United States government announced a 100 million dollar investment in women's health⁽⁶¹⁾. The Advanced Research Projects Agency for Health aims to support innovation, investment, research, and patient advocacy to proactively seek solutions in women's healthcare⁽⁶²⁾. As the leading cause of death among women continues to be cardiovascular disease, investment in centers devoted to the cardiac care of women should be a priority.

Focusing The Future Research: Improving CABG Outcomes in Women

In conclusion, inequalities between male and female CABG patients have been reported in operative mortality, late mortality, and morbidity. Beyond the potential anatomic disparity, poor outcomes in this population are multifactorial with lower rates of PCI and complete

Table 2. Challenges and solutions for women undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting

0		•
Characteristics in women compared with men with CAD	Unique challenges in women with CAD	Potential solutions to improve outcomes in women
Average several years older Multiple risk factors/comorbidities	Delayed CAD diagnosis, treatment conservatism, and referral basis	Preoperative factors Establish effective diagnostic tests in women
More likely to have silent heart attack	Lack of angiographically significant CAD	Improve time to diagnosis Reduce treatment conservatism
More likely to present with sudden death	Diagnostic test inaccuracy	Patient and physician education regarding perception of risk
More likely to die within 1 year after MI	Incorrect patient and physician perception of risk	
More often with urgent or emergent presentation More severe angina class Diabetes more powerful risk factor	Lower intraoperative utilization of guideline directed surgical treatment: arterial grafts, complete revascularization	Intraoperative factors Use of arterial grafts Complete revascularization
Greater disabling symptoms despite less	Smaller coronaries	Other factors
extensive coronary disease (small vessel disease)	Suboptimal involvement in clinical trials	Sex concordance (physician and patient)
Longer time to diagnosis Less likely to undergo ECG, undergo catheterization, receive antiplatelet and statin, and receive revascularization		Centers of specialization for women's health

A summary of the characteristics of CAD in women compared to men, the specific challenges providers face in management of CAD in women, and potential preoperative and intraoperative solutions found to improve CABG outcomes in women. Reproduced from Cho, et al.⁽⁴⁷⁾ with permission pending from Wolters Kluwer Health. CABG: Coronary artery bypass graft, CAD: Coronary artery disease, MI: myocardial infarction, ECG: Electrocardiogram





revascularization. Adopting the aforementioned approaches, increasing the number of female surgeons, enhancing heart team discussions at multidisciplinary conferences, and ensuring an adequate offering of PCI or CABG where appropriate, would begin to improve CABG outcomes in women. Healthcare systems and clinicians can significantly enhance the quality of care for women undergoing CABG and thus improve surgical outcomes and patient satisfaction.

Ethics

Footnotes

Authorship Contributions

Literature Search: Briscoe JB, Lawton JS, Writing: Briscoe JB, Lawton JS.

Conflict of Interest: The author declare no conflicts of interest concerning the authorship or publication of this article.

Financial Disclosure: This research received no specific grants from any funding agency in the commercial or not-for-profit sectors.

References

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. National Vital Statistics System, Mortality: Compressed Mortality File 1999-2016 on CDC WONDER Online Database, released June 2017. Avaible date: 17.04.2024. Avaible from: <u>https://wonder.cdc.gov/cmf-icd10.html</u>
- Virani SS, Alonso A, Benjamin EJ, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2020 update: a report from the american heart association. Circulation. 2020;141:e139-596.
- Tsao CW, Aday AW, Almarzooq ZI, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2022 update: a report from the american heart association. Circulation. 2022;145:e153-639.
- Ford ES, Ajani UA, Croft JB, et al. Explaining the decrease in U.S. deaths from coronary disease, 1980-2000. N Engl J Med. 2007;356:2388-98.
- Ritchey MD, Wall HK, George MG, Wright JS. US trends in premature heart disease mortality over the past 50 years: where do we go from here? Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2020;30:364-74.
- Dani SS, Minhas AMK, Arshad A, et al. Trends in characteristics and outcomes of hospitalized young patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting in the United States, 2004 to 2018. J Am Heart Assoc. 2021;10:e021361.
- Lawton JS, Tamis-Holland JE, Bangalore S, et al. 2021 ACC/AHA/ SCAI Guideline for coronary artery revascularization: executive summary: a report of the american college of cardiology/American heart

association joint committee on clinical practice guidelines. Circulation. 2022;145:e4-17.

- 8. Angraal S, Khera R, Wang Y, et al. Sex and race differences in the utilization and outcomes of coronary artery bypass grafting among medicare beneficiaries, 1999-2014. JAHA. 2018;7:e009014.
- Jawitz OK, Lawton JS, Thibault D, et al. Sex differences in coronary artery bypass grafting techniques: a society of thoracic surgeons database analysis. Ann Thorac Surg. 2022;113:1979-88.
- Attia T, Koch CG, Houghtaling PL, Blackstone EH, Sabik EM, Sabik JF. Does a similar procedure result in similar survival for women and men undergoing isolated coronary artery bypass grafting? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2017;153:571-9.
- Gaudino M, Di Franco A, Cao D, et al. Sex-related outcomes of medical, percutaneous, and surgical interventions for coronary artery disease: Jacc Focus Seminar 3/7. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2022;79:1407-25.
- Aldea GS, Gaudiani JM, Shapira OM, et al. Effect of gender on postoperative outcomes and hospital stays after coronary artery bypass grafting. Ann Thorac Surg. 1999;67:1097-103.
- Daly C, Clemens F, Lopez Sendon JL, et al. Gender differences in the management and clinical outcome of stable angina. Circulation. 2006;113:490-8.
- den Ruijter HM, Haitjema S, van der Meer MG, et al. Long-term outcome in men and women after CABG; results from the IMAGINE trial. Atherosclerosis. 2015;241:284-8.
- Garcia M, Mulvagh SL, Merz CN, Buring JE, Manson JE. Cardiovascular disease in women: clinical perspectives. Circ Res. 2016;118:1273-93.
- Gaudino M, Alexander JH, Egorova N, et al. Sex-related differences in outcomes after coronary artery bypass surgery-a patient-level pooled analysis of randomized controlled trials: rationale and study protocol. J Card Surg. 2020;35:2754-8.
- 17. Koch CG, Khandwala F, Nussmeier N, Blackstone EH. Gender and outcomes after coronary artery bypass grafting: a propensity-matched comparison. J Thorac Cardiovase Surg. 2003;126:2032-43.
- Mahowald MK, Alqahtani F, Alkhouli M. Comparison of outcomes of coronary revascularization for acute myocardial infarction in men versus women. Am J Cardiol. 2020;132:1-7.
- Vaccarino V, Abramson JL, Veledar E, Weintraub WS. Sex differences in hospital mortality after coronary artery bypass surgery: evidence for a higher mortality in younger women. Circulation. 2002;105:1176-81.
- Vrancic JM, Navia DO, Espinoza JC, et al. Is sex a risk factor for death in patients with bilateral internal thoracic artery grafts? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2019;158:1345-53.
- Bryce Robinson N, Naik A, Rahouma M, et al. Sex differences in outcomes following coronary artery bypass grafting: a meta-analysis. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2021;33:841-7.
- 22. Tam DY, Deb S, Nguyen B, et al. The radial artery is protective in women and men following coronary artery bypass grafting-a substudy of the radial artery patency study. Ann Cardiothorac Surg. 2018;7:492-9.
- Mosca L, Linfante AH, Benjamin EJ, et al. National study of physician awareness and adherence to cardiovascular disease prevention guidelines. Circulation. 2005;111:499-510.
- 24. Pancholy SB, Shantha GP, Patel T, Cheskin LJ. Sex differences in short-term and long-term all-cause mortality among patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction treated by primary percutaneous intervention: a meta-analysis. JAMA Intern Med. 2014;174:1822-30.





- Cenko E, Yoon J, Kedev S, et al. Sex differences in outcomes After STEMI: effect modification by treatment strategy and age. JAMA Intern Med. 2018;178:632-9.
- Shi D, Zhang B, Motamed M, et al. Higher mortality in women after coronary artery bypass: meta-analysis and bias analysis of confounding. Ann Thorac Surg. 2022;113:674-80.
- Johnston A, Mesana TG, Lee DS, Eddeen AB, Sun LY. Sex differences in long-term survival after major cardiac surgery: a population-based cohort study. J Am Heart Assoc. 2019;8:e013260.
- Guru V, Fremes SE, Tu JV. Time-related mortality for women after coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a population-based study. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2004;127:1158-65.
- Kytö V, Sipilä J, Tornio A, Rautava P, Gunn J. Sex-based outcomes after coronary artery bypass grafting. The Annals of Thoracic Surgery. 2021;112:1974-81.
- Gupta S, Lui B, Ma X, Walline M, Ivascu NS, White RS. Sex differences in outcomes after coronary artery bypass grafting. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2020;34:3259-66.
- Rogers MA, Langa KM, Kim C, et al. Contribution of infection to increased mortality in women after cardiac surgery. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166:437-43.
- Ter Woorst JF, van Straten AHM, Houterman S, Soliman-Hamad MA. Sex difference in coronary artery bypass grafting: preoperative profile and early outcome. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2019;33:2679-84.
- Parolari A, Naliato M, Loardi C, et al. Surgery of left ventricular aneurysm: a meta-analysis of early outcomes following different reconstruction techniques. Ann Thorac Surg. 2007;83:2009-16.
- Garatti A, Castelvecchio S, Canziani A, Santoro T, Menicanti L. CABG in patients with left ventricular dysfunction: indications, techniques and outcomes. Indian J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2018;34:279-86.
- 35. Senthil Kumaran S, Del Cid Fratti J, Desai A, et al. Racial disparities in women with ST elevation myocardial infarction: a national inpatient sample review of baseline characteristics, co-morbidities, and outcomes in women with STEMI. Clin Cardiol. 2023;46:1285-95.
- Enumah ZO, Canner JK, Alejo D, et al. Persistent racial and sex disparities in outcomes after coronary artery bypass surgery: a retrospective clinical registry review in the drug-eluting stent era. Ann Surg. 2020;272:660-7.
- Gaudino M, Samadashvili Z, Hameed I, Chikwe J, Girardi LN, Hannan EL. Differences in long-term outcomes after coronary artery bypass grafting using single vs multiple arterial grafts and the association with sex. JAMA Cardiol. 2021;6:401-9.
- Mickleborough LL, Carson S, Ivanov J. Gender differences in quality of distal vessels: effect on results of coronary artery bypass grafting. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2003;126:950-8.
- Lawton JS, Barner HB, Bailey MS, et al. Radial artery grafts in women: utilization and results. Ann Thorac Surg. 2005;80:559-63.
- Jabagi H, Tran DT, Hessian R, Glineur D, Rubens FD. Impact of gender on arterial revascularization strategies for coronary artery bypass grafting. Ann Thorac Surg. 2018;105:62-8.
- Zwischenberger BA, Jawitz OK, Lawton JS. Coronary surgery in women: how can we improve outcomes. JTCVS Tech. 2021;10:122-8.
- Robinson NB, Lia H, Rahouma M, et al. Coronary artery bypass with single versus multiple arterial grafts in women: a meta-analysis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2023;165:1093-8.
- Beery AK, Zucker I. Sex bias in neuroscience and biomedical research. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2011;35:565-72.

- McGregor AJ, Hasnain M, Sandberg K, Morrison MF, Berlin M, Trott J. How to study the impact of sex and gender in medical research: a review of resources. Biol Sex Differ. 2016;7:46.
- Lau ES, Hayes SN, Volgman AS, et al. Does patient-physician gender concordance influence patient perceptions or outcomes? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2021;77:1135-8.
- 46. Nguyen Q, Luc JGY, Lawton JS, et al. Sex representation among principal investigators in cardiac surgery clinical trials in the United States: the glass ceiling and room for improvement. Ann Surg. 2022;276:e1101-6.
- Cho L, Kibbe MR, Bakaeen F, et al. Cardiac surgery in women in the current era: what are the gaps in care? Circulation. 2021;144:1172-85.
- Jin X, Chandramouli C, Allocco B, Gong E, Lam CSP, Yan LL. Women's participation in cardiovascular clinical trials from 2010 to 2017. Circulation. 2020;141:540-8.
- Liu KA, Mager NA. Women's involvement in clinical trials: historical perspective and future implications. Pharm Pract (Granada). 2016;14:708.
- Koning R, Samila S, Ferguson JP. Who do we invent for? Patents by women focus more on women's health, but few women get to invent. Science. 2021;372:1345-8.
- Huang J, Gates AJ, Sinatra R, Barabási AL. Historical comparison of gender inequality in scientific careers across countries and disciplines. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2020;117:4609-16.
- Elrod JK, Fortenberry JL Jr. Centers of excellence in healthcare institutions: what they are and how to assemble them. BMC Health Serv Res. 2017;17:425.
- Greenwood BN, Carnahan S, Huang L. Patient-physician gender concordance and increased mortality among female heart attack patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2018;115:8569-74.
- Krupat E, Rosenkranz SL, Yeager CM, Barnard K, Putnam SM, Inui TS. The practice orientations of physicians and patients: the effect of doctorpatient congruence on satisfaction. Patient Educ Couns. 2000;39:49-59.
- Baumhäkel M, Müller U, Böhm M. Influence of gender of physicians and patients on guideline-recommended treatment of chronic heart failure in a cross-sectional study. Eur J Heart Fail. 2009;11:299-303.
- Wallis CJ, Ravi B, Coburn N, Nam RK, Detsky AS, Satkunasivam R. Comparison of postoperative outcomes among patients treated by male and female surgeons: a population based matched cohort study. BMJ. 2017;359:j4366.
- 57. Fife RS, Moskovic C, Dynak H, et al. Development and implementation of novel community outreach methods in women's health issues: the National Centers of Excellence in Women's Health. J Womens Health Gend Based Med. 2001;10:27-37.
- Kwolek DG, Mark S; Future of sex and gender medicine working group. the evolution of the national centers of excellence in women's health: the time for gender and health equity has arrived. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2023;32:385-7.
- Weisman CS, Squires GL. Women's health centers: Are the national centers of excellence in women's health a new model? Womens Health Issues. 2000;10:248-55.
- Fisher JW, Peek KE. Collaborating for change: creating a women's health network. Women's Health Issues. 2009;19:3-7. 61.
- 61. Sprint for Women's Health. Avaible date: 30.03.2024. Avaible from: https://sprint.investorcatalysthub.org/





J Updates Cardiovasc Med 2025;13(1):17-22

DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2024-37-117

Quantitative Ultrasonographic Measures of Common Carotid Artery Blood Flow Velocity in Individuals with Prediabetes

🛚 Okan Tanrıverdi

Adıyaman Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of of Cardiology, Adıyaman, Türkiye

Abstract

Objectives: Prediabetes is often considered an intermediate stage in the development of diabetes. Studies have explored the relationship between prediabetes and various cardiovascular parameters, including quantitative measures of common carotid artery blood flow velocity using ultrasonography. Our research examined prediabetic patients' carotid flow velocity (CFV).

Materials and Methods: The study sample included 120 individuals with prediabetes and 120 controls. In individuals with prediabetes, fasting blood sugar levels ranged from 5.6 to 6.9 millimolar, whereas the levels of glycated hemoglobin ranged from 5.7% to 6.4%. Measurements were performed for the CFVs.

Results: In individuals with prediabetes, there was a significant increase in pulsatility index, and resistive index. Carotid artery blood flow velocity patterns were significantly associated with prediabetes (p<0.05 for all).

Conclusion: Prediabetes promoted lower CFV. Prediabetes may cause carotid flow rate decreases owing to endothelial dysfunction.

Keywords: End diastolic velocity, peak systolic velocity, prediabetes, pulsatility index, resistive inde

Introduction

Prediabetes is the transition between type 2 diabetes and normoglycemia. With impaired fasting glucose levels, plasma glucose levels can range from 100 to 125 mg/dL. A 75-g/g oral glucose tolerance test may also diagnose decreased glucose tolerance. Two-hour plasma glucose values between 140 and 199 mg/dL indicate prediabetes. The ADA 2010 guidelines define prediabetes as an HbA1c level of 5.7% -6.4%. Approximately 5% -10% of patients with prediabetes develop type 2 diabetes annually^(1,2).



Address for Correspondence: Okan Tanrıverdi, Adıyaman Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of of Cardiology, Adıyaman, Türkiye e-mail: tanriverdiokan02@hotmail.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-3508-2048 Received: 01.12.2024 Accepted: 07.01.2025 Epub: 14.01.2025 Publication Date: 25.03.2025

Cite this article as: Tannverdi O. Quantitative ultrasonographic measures of common carotid artery blood flow velocity in individuals with prediabetes. J Updates Cardiovasc Med. 2025;13(1):17-22.

DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2024-37-117



Copyright[®] 2025 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Heart and Health Foundation of Turkey (HHFT). This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND) International License.



Brachial artery flow-mediated dilation (FMD) determines the response of arterial diameter to increasing flow. Increased intima-media thickness (IMT) and reduced flow-mediated diameter (FMD) are linked to atherosclerosis. Each Doppler ultrasound stage requires a decision from the examiner. Coronary artery disease (CAD) and death are linked to carotid flow rate⁽³⁾. This study examined carotid flow rate parameters in patients undergoing prediabetics.

Materials and Methods

This observational clinical trial was conducted from December 2021 to April 2022. Approval was obtained from the Adıyaman University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval no.: 2021/07-30, date: 30.07.2021) and all participants provided written informed consent.

Study Population

The study included 120 patients with prediabetes (72 men, 48 women) and 120 controls (68 men, 52 women). All participants had normal blood pressure (BP) and no coronary disease. The diagnosis of prediabetes follows current standards⁽⁴⁾. In patients with prediabetes, fasting blood sugar was 5.6-6.9 mM and HbA1c 5.7% -6.4%⁽⁵⁾. The exclusion criteria were heart failure, CAD hypertension, and diabetes.

M-mode echocardiograms were conducted in the left lateral decubitus position using Vivid E9 equipment (Bioject Medical Technologies Inc., Portland, OR, USA). ASE guidelines were used to acquire images⁽⁶⁾. Post-physical examination demographics were collected. Smoking status was determined by pack year. The blood glucose, lipid profile, and creatinine levels of all participants were recorded.

Brachial Arterial Reactivity

Ultrasound was used to assess endothelium-dependent dilatation⁽⁷⁾. Alcohol and coffee consumption was restricted for 12 hours before treatment. Imaging was performed in a quiet, dark environment at ambient temperature. All



vasoactive medicines were stopped 24 hour before the measurements. The basal diameter was the average of three right brachial artery intima-to-intima measurements after 30 minutes of rest. Imaging and measuring the arterial diameter above the cuff. To induce reactive hyperemia, the longitudinal artery picture was taken 30 seconds before and 2 minutes after deflation after inflating the cuff to 300 mmHg for 5 minutes. The rest of the photos were taken after 5 minutes. After administering 400 g of sublingual glyceryl trinitrate, final arterial images were taken after 3 minutes. A brachial artery EDD indicates endothelial function and predicts cardiovascular (CV) events. Ultrasound was performed following coronary angiography. A brachial artery diameter increase of 10% or more indicated good endothelial function⁽⁷⁾.

Laboratory Parameters

All patients underwent antecubital vein punctures to draw blood. Over 30 min, dipotassium-EDTA-treated blood samples were analyzed. Hematological parameters were measured using a Sysmex America Inc. XT-2000i analyzer (Mundelein, IL, USA). Standard laboratory methods assess all biochemical parameters.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical data were calculated using SPSS for Windows (25.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The chisquare test was used to evaluate categorical variables across groups. Spearman's rank correlation analysis and Pearson's tests indicated correlations. For statistical significance, p<0.05 was used.

Results

The study included 120 patients with prediabetes (mean age: 58.1 ± 0.3 years) and 120 controls (mean age: 57.2 ± 0.4 years). In patients with prediabetes, smoking and hyperlipidemia were considerably greater (p<0.001) (Table 1). IMT, pulsatility index (PI), and resistive index (RI) were significantly increased in patients with prediabetes (p<0.001, p=0.013, and p=0.024, respectively) (Table 2). The findings demonstrated a robust positive



correlation between prediabetes and RI, PI, and IMT (r=0.634, p<0.001; r=0.456, p=0.001; r=0.857, p<0.001, respectively) (Table 3).

Discussion

In this study, carotid artery blood flow velocity patterns were associated with prediabetes. The first study to link carotid artery flow velocity to prediabetes. Prediabetes was associated with considerably lower carotid flow velocity, greater upper carotid IMT, and impaired FMD.

Prediabetes and carotid artery blood flow velocity have been studied. Blood flow alterations may indicate vascular dysfunction in patients with prediabetes, which increases the risk of CV disease (CVD). Increased velocity, disrupted flow, or turbulence may cause atherosclerosis, which narrows and hardens the arteries^(8,9). According to some studies, prediabetes may cause carotid artery blood flow alterations that may lead to more serious CV complications. Flow velocity patterns, notably increased velocity or disrupted flow, may indicate early atherosclerotic alterations^(10,11).

The basic concept of arterial hemodynamics states
that blood flow and BP primarily affect luminal radius
and wall thickness ⁽¹²⁾ . Low NO bioavailability causes
arterial endothelial dysfunction (ED), which leads to
atherosclerosis, as collagen and elastin thicken walls ⁽³⁾ .
Doppler ultrasonography can identify early atherosclerosis
in carotid IMT. Suwaidi et al. ⁽¹³⁾ found that coronary ED
increased CVD without obstructive lesions. Our findings
revealed that individuals with prediabetes had elevated
IMT levels, which was significantly correlated with the
presence of prediabetes.

Artery-brachial FMD may help diagnose CAD. Patients with low-FMD may benefit from lifestyle adjustments and other preventive measures. Lower FMD in patients with moderate CAD suggests that FMD can predict early CAD⁽¹⁴⁾. FMD was linked to increased IMT over a 6-year period. This implies that endothelial function causes atherogenesis⁽¹⁵⁾. However, Enderle et al.⁽¹⁶⁾ found no correlation between FMD and CAD severity. Lower carotis communis artery (CCA) PSV is associated with greater internal carotid artery (ICA) stenosis⁽³⁾. In contrast,

	Controls (n=120)	Prediabetes (n= 120)	p-value
Age, years	57.2±0.4	58.1±0.3	0.612
Gender, male, n, (%)	68	72	0.552
Smoking, n, (%)	22	38	<0.001
HL, n, (%)	20	42	<0.001
LVEF, (%)	55.4±0.4	55.2±0.6	0.874
BMI, kg/m ²	25.2±0.4	28.6±0.4	<0.001
Fasting plasma glucose (mg/dL)	88.2±2.4	114.6±5.7	<0.001
HbA1c (%)	4.8±0.3	6.3±0.3	<0.001
Cre (mg/dL)	0.72 0.2	0.77±0.1	0.756
TG, mg/dL	174.2±2.8	198.1±2.2	0.003
HDL-C, mg/dL	40.6±0.7	33.2±1.4	0.011
LDL-C, mg/dL	102.4±3.2	133.3±4.7	0.022
TC (mg/dL	142.4±6.0	192.4±5.8	0.002
WBC (10 ³ × µL)	6.4±1.1	7.6±1.8	0.312
Hgb (g/dL)	13.6±0.3	13.7±0.2	0.734

p-value<0.05. BMI: Body mass index, BP: Blood pressure, Cre: Creatinine, CX: Circumfl ex artery, Glu: Glucose, HGB: Hemoglobin, HbA1c: Glycolized hemoglobin, HDL: High-density lipoprotein, HI: Hyperlipidemia, LDL: Low-density lipoprotein, LVEF: Left ventricular ejection fraction, TC: Total cholesterol, TG: Triglyceride, WBC: white blood cell

Table 1. Characteristics of the study population





Brachial doppler measurements	Controls (n=120)	Prediabetes (n=120)	p-value
Brachial vessel diameter (mm)	3.0±0.1	2.9±0.1	0.902
Flow-mediated increase in diameter (mm)	0.32±0.2	0.24±0.3	<0.001
Brachial vascular reactivities			
EDD (%)	10.4±0.3	7.6±0.4	<0.001
NID (%)	11.2±0.4	9.2±0.4	0.024
Hyperaemia (%)	463.2±8.5	427.4±8.6	0.044
Carotid doppler measurements			
IMT (mm)	0.74±0.18	1.32±0.14	<0.001
PSV (cm/s)	86.2±3.1	77.2±3.1	0.013
EDV (cm/s)	31.2±1.5	23.2±2.4	0.002
MV (cm/s)	63.6±4.1	55.8±3.8	0.008
RI	1.7±0.2	2.4±0.3	0.024
PI	0.86±0.1	0.99±0.1	0.003

 Table 2. Brachial and carotid artery doppler ultrasound measurements

*p-value<0.05. EDD: Endothelium dependent dilation, EDV: End diastolic velocity, IMT: Intima-media thickness, MV: Mean velocity, NID: Nitroglycerin-induced dilation, RI: Resistive index, PI: Pulsatility index, PSV: Peac systolic velocity

Table 3. Factors associated with prediabetes

Variables	Correlation coefficient (r)	p-value
Age, years	-0.186	0.262
LVEF, (%)	0.004	0.882
Brachial vessel diameter	0.158	0.312
Flow-mediated increase in diameter	-0.648	<0.001
EDD (%)	-0.898	<0.001
NID (%)	-0.867	<0.001
Hyperaemia (%)	-0.752	<0.001
IMT (mm)	0.857	<0.001
PSV (cm/s)	-0.659	<0.001
EDV (cm/s)	-0.758	<0.001
MV (cm/s)	-0.713	<0.001
RI	0.634	<0.001
PI	0.456	<0.001

'p-value<0.05, 'We conducted a Spearman correlation analysis between the categorical variable prediabetes and other variables. EDD: Endothelium dependent dilation, EDV: End diastolic velocity, IMT: Intima-media thickness, LV-EF: Left ventricular ejection fraction, MV: Mean velocity, NID: Nitroglycerin-induced dilation, RI: Resistive index, PI: Pulsatility index, PSV: Peac systolic velocity

our study showed that individuals with prediabetes did not have plaque or stenosis in their CCAs. In our study, individuals with prediabetes had normal left ventricular ejection fraction. Several studies have linked abnormalities in the communis artery (CA) lumen and wall to CV risk factors⁽¹⁷⁾. CCA measures are less variable and more reliable than ICA and external CA samples⁽³⁾. In contrast to carotid atherosclerosis and CVD risk factors, CCA flow velocity and diameter are linked to ischemic stroke⁽¹⁸⁾. Because fractional shortening and PSV are positively correlated, the carotid flow rate is sensitive to cardiac hemodynamic changes. In addition, middle cerebral artery flow velocity and cardiac index are synergistic in normotensive individuals. The participants in our research had normal BP levels and did not present any cardiac insufficiency symptoms.

Owolabi et al.⁽¹⁹⁾ found a relationship between carotid artery diameter and blood flow velocity in stroke patients. External factors, such as physical activity, temperature, food consumption, light, and noise, can affect carotid flow rates⁽³⁾. PI is a semiquantitative indicator that measures arteriolar tone by representing blood flow impedance downstream of sampling⁽²⁰⁾.

Study Limitations

Limited numbers of patients and controls were included in this study. We did not follow-up long-term.



Left ventricular function, coronary blood flow, carotid blood flow velocity, and arterial stiffness are affected by pulse wave velocity (PWV). Without the PWV estimation, this investigation was limited. Without angiography, subclinical CAD cannot be excluded. However, our patients were asymptomatic and had no echocardiographic evidence of ischemic heart disease. Fifth, we cannot validate the diabetes rate among patients with prediabetes. Finally, extrinsic factors, including physical activity, temperature, food consumption, light, and noise, affect carotid flow rates.

Conclusion

This is the first study to examine carotid blood flow velocity patterns in patients with prediabetes. Reduced carotid flow rate may be caused by ED, increased microvascular resistance in people who are at risk for developing diabetes.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Approval was obtained from the Adıyaman University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval no.: 2021/07-30, date: 30.07.2021).

Informed Consent: All participants provided written informed consent.

Footnotes

Conflict of Interest: The author declare no conflicts of interest concerning the authorship or publication of this article.

Financial Disclosure: This research received no specific grants from any funding agency in the commercial or not-for-profit sectors.

References

- Tabák AG, Herder C, Rathmann W, et al. Prediabetes: a high-risk state for diabetes development. Lancet. 2012;379:2279-90.
- Askin L, Cetin M, Tasolar H, et al. Left ventricular myocardial performance index in prediabetic patients without coronary artery disease. Echocardiography. 2018;35:445-9.

- 3. Bytyçi I, Shenouda R, Wester P, et al. Carotid atherosclerosis in predicting coronary artery disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2021;41:e224-e237.
- 4. American diabetes association. diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2010;33 Suppl 1:62-9.
- Kerner W, Brückel J. German diabetes association. definition, classification and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes. 2014;122:384-6.
- Lang RM, Bierig M, Devereux RB, et al. Recommendations for chamber quantification: a report from the american society of echocardiography's guidelines and standards committee and the chamber quantification writing group, developed in conjunction with the european association of echocardiography, a branch of the european society of cardiology. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2005;18:1440-63.
- Chaudhry MA, Smith M, Hanna EB, et al. Diverse spectrum of presentation of coronary slow flow phenomenon: a concise review of the literature. Cardiol Res Pract. 2012;2012:383181.
- Arman Y, Atici A, Altun O, et al. Can the serum endocan level be used as a biomarker to predict subclinical atherosclerosis in patients with prediabetes? Arq Bras Cardiol. 2022;119:544-50.
- Faeh D, William J, Yerly P, et al. Diabetes and pre-diabetes are associated with cardiovascular risk factors and carotid/femoral intima-media thickness independently of markers of insulin resistance and adiposity. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 200724;6:32.
- Altin C, Sade LE, Gezmis E, et al. Assessment of subclinical atherosclerosis by carotid intima-media thickness and epicardial adipose tissue thickness in prediabetes. Angiology. 2016;67:961-9.
- Diamantopoulos EJ, Andreadis EA, Tsourous G, et al. Early vascular lesions in subjects with metabolic syndrome and prediabetes. Int Angiol. 2006;25:179-83.
- Humphrey JD. Mechanisms of arterial remodeling in hypertension: coupled roles of wall shear and intramural stress. Hypertension. 2008;52:195-200.
- Suwaidi JA, Hamasaki S, Higano ST, et al. Long-term follow-up of patients with mild coronary artery disease and endothelial dysfunction. Circulation. 2000;101:948-54.
- 14. Furumoto T, Fujii S, Saito N, et al. Relationships between brachial artery flow mediated dilation and carotid artery intima-media thickness in patients with suspected coronary artery disease. Jpn Heart J. 2002;43:117-25.
- Halcox JP, Donald AE, Ellins E, et al. Endothelial function predicts progression of carotid intima-media thickness. Circulation. 2009;119:1005-12.
- Enderle MD, Schroeder S, Ossen R, et al. Comparison of peripheral endothelial dysfunction and intimal media thickness in patients with suspected coronary artery disease. Heart. 1998;80:349-54.
- Tseke P, Grapsa E, Stamatelopoulos K, et al. Atherosclerotic risk factors and carotid stiffness in elderly asymptomatic HD patients. Int Urol Nephrol. 2006;38:801-9.
- 18. Bai CH, Chen JR, Chiu HC, et al. Lower blood flow velocity, higher resistance index, and larger diameter of extracranial carotid arteries are associated with ischemic stroke independently of carotid atherosclerosis and cardiovascular risk factors. J Clin Ultrasound. 2007;35:322-30.





- Owolabi MO, Agunloye AM, Ogunniyi A. The relationship of flow velocities to vessel diameters differs between extracranial carotid and vertebral arteries of stroke patients. J Clin Ultrasound. 2014;42:16-23.
- Crutchfield KE, Razumovsky AY, Tegeler CH, et al. Differentiating vascular pathophysiological states by objective analysis of flow dynamics. J Neuroimaging. 2004;14:97-107.





J Updates Cardiovasc Med 2025;13(1):23-32

DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2024-33-105

Septal Myectomy without Correction of Moderate and Severe Mitral Regurgitation

© Evgeny E. Kobzev¹, © Evgeny V. Rosseykin¹, © Vizil Desai²

¹Federal Center for Cardiovascular Surgery, Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation, Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, Khabarovsk, Russia ²UNM Children's Hospital, Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, Surat, India

Abstract

Objectives: Septal myectomy (SM) is the gold standard treatment option for patients with hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy (HOCM) whose symptoms do not respond to medical therapy. Extended SM adequately relieves left ventricular outflow tract (LVOT) gradients, abolishes systolic anterior motion (SAM) of the mitral valve and improves mitral regurgitation (MR). However, in patients with moderate and severe MR, controversy remains regarding the necessity of mitral intervention at the time of SM. In this study, we investigated short-term outcomes of SM without correction of moderate and severe MR, as well as risk factors for residual MR \geq 2+ after SM.

Materials and Methods: From January 2019 to January 2024, 207 adult patients underwent transaortic SM in our Center. Of these, 119 patients who underwent isolated SM were included in the study: group 1 (n=36) consisted of patients with no or mild MR and group 2 (n=83) consisted of patients with moderate to severe MR. The primary endpoint was the severity of MR after SM. Secondary endpoints included postoperative complications, residual LVOT gradient \geq 30 mmHg and residual SAM.

Results: There was no residual MR in the group 1, while 9% of patients in group 2 had moderate MR. Only 3.6% of cases in group 2 required repeated aortic cross-clamping and mitral valve intervention. The mortality rate was 1.2% (1 patient) in group 2, with no deaths in group 1. Complete AV-block requiring permanent pacemaker implantation occurred in 2 patients (5.6%) in group 1 and 6 patients (7.2%) in group 2 (p=0.74). There were 2 patients (5.6%) in group 1 and 4 patients (4.8%) in group 2 with a residual LVOT gradient \geq 30 mmHg at discharge (p=0.87). Residual SAM was identified



Address for Correspondence: Evgeny E. Kobzev, Federal Center for Cardiovascular Surgery, Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation, Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, Khabarovsk, Russia e-mail: kobzeffsurg@mail.ru ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-3628-1743

Received: 17.11.2024 Accepted: 13.01.2025 Epub: 21.01.2025 Publication Date: 25.03.2025

Cite this article as: Kobzev EE, Rosseykin EV, Desai V. Septal myectomy without correction of moderate and severe mitral regurgitation. J Updates Cardiovasc Med. 2025;13(1):23-32.

DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2024-33-105



Copyright[©] 2025 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Heart and Health Foundation of Turkey (HHFT). This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND) International License.





in 2 patients (5.6%) in group 1 and 7 patients (8.4%) in group 2 (p=0.58). Multivariate regression analysis identified only residual SAM [odds ratio (OR): 13.994, 95% confidence interval (CI): 2.692-72.744, p=0.02] as a predictor of residual MR \geq 2+.

Conclusion: In our study, among patients with moderate and severe MR, only 3.6% required repeated aortic crossclamping and mitral valve intervention. Before discharge, only 9% of patients had moderate MR. Consequently, in most patients with HOCM and moderate/severe MR not due to organic mitral valve lesion, isolated SM effectively relieves LVOT gradients, SAM of the mitral valve and the associated MR.

Keywords: Cardiovascular medicine, cardiovascular surgery, heart failure

Introduction

Hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy (HOCM) is the most common hereditary cardiomyopathy characterized by left ventricular hypertrophy^(1,2). The mechanism of left ventricular outflow tract (LVOT) obstruction in patients with HOCM involves both hypertrophic interventricular septum (IVS) and mitral valve (MV) abnormalities. The leaflets of the MV and the submitral apparatus play a significant role in the formation and worsening of LVOT obstruction. Systolic anterior motion (SAM) of the MV, along with its contact with the hypertrophic IVS, results in dynamic LVOT obstruction, impaired coaptation of the MV leaflets, and mitral regurgitation (MR)^(3,4).

Currently, septal myectomy (SM) has been the treatment of choice for patients with HOCM and LVOT obstruction^(1,2). However, there remains controversy regarding whether MV procedures should be performed simultaneously. Some authors believe that isolated resection of the IVS is sufficient to eliminate MR⁽⁴⁻⁶⁾, whereas others advocate for intervention on the MV and submitral structures⁽⁷⁻¹³⁾.

The purpose of this study was to analyze the clinical and echocardiogram outcomes of SM without correction of moderate and severe MR; and to identify risk factors for residual MR \geq 2+ after SM.

Materials and Methods

Patient Selection

From January 2019 to January 2024, 207 patients underwent SM at our center. The exclusion criteria were: 1) age below 18 years old; 2) need for coronary artery bypass grafting and 3) organic aortic and MV disease requiring surgery. Thus, 119 patients who underwent isolated intervention were included in the study. These patients were divided into two groups: group 1 (n=36), consisting of patients with no or mild MR; and group 2 (n=83), consisting of patients with moderate or severe MR (Figure 1).

HOCM was diagnosed based on transthoracic echocardiogram and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) results, in accordance with the clinical guidelines^(1,2). The indications for surgery included septal thickness >15 mm and LVOT pressure gradient \geq 50 mmHg at rest or after exercise (valsalva maneuver / exercise test). The severity of MR was measured by color Doppler ultrasonography and classified as mild (0-1+), moderate (2+), moderate/ severe (3+), or severe (4+).

In accordance with the clinical guidelines, all patients received β -blockers without vasodilating effect and/or calcium channel blockers before surgery^(1,2).



Figure 1. Study Design

HOCM: Hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy, SM: Septal myectomy, CABG: Coronary artery bypass grafting, MR: Mitral regurgitation, LVOT: Left ventricular outflow tract

Patient Characteristics

The clinical and demographic characteristics of the patients along with preoperative echocardiogram findings are presented in Table 1. The age of patients was higher in group 2 than in group 1 (56.5±12.7 years vs. 50.4 ± 13.4 years, p=0.02). Most patients in both groups had New York Heart Association functional class II-III heart failure. Patients with MR 2+ had a higher LVOT gradient (73 [57;99] mmHg vs. 54 [50;68] mmHg, p<0.001), whereas no significant differences were found in septal thickness (23.6±5.1 mm vs. 23.9±4.9 mm, p=0.79). In group 2, 51 patients (61%) had MR 2+, and 32 patients (39%) had MR 3+. Group 2 also had a higher operative risk according to EuroSCORE II (p=0.04). The conducted study complies with the standards of the Declaration of Helsinki, is approved by the Independent Ethical Committee of the Federal State Budgetary Institution Federal Center For Cardiovascular Surgery Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation (Khabarovsk) (approval no: 39, date: 11.11.2023).

Endpoints

The primary endpoint was the severity of MR after SM. The secondary endpoints included the need for repeated aortic cross-clamping to correct MR postoperative complications, residual LVOT gradient, residual systolic SAM, and IVS thickness.

Operative Treatment

All surgeries were performed by two experienced surgeons via a transaortic approach. Separate bicaval venous cannulation was performed in patients with moderate to severe MR. The heart was arrested using antegrade crystalloid (Custodiol solution (Dr. Franz Kohler Chemie GmbH, Germany) or warm blood cardioplegia. A standard SM, as described by Morrow⁽¹⁴⁾, was performed. If diffuse IVS thickening was present, the excision was extended as distally as possible up to the base of the papillary muscles (Figure 2). The aorta was then closed in a double-layer fashion. After bypass, the anatomy and function of LVOT, LVOT gradient,





and MR grade were evaluated using transesophageal echocardiography. In cases of residual high gradient or severe MR, cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) was resumed for correction.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical calculations were performed using the SPSS software, version 21 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). Categorical variables were presented as numbers and percentages and

 Table 1. Baseline characteristics

Parameter	Group 1 (MR <2+) n=36	Group 2 (MR <2+) n=83	p-value
Age (years), M±SD	50.4±13.4	56.5±12.7	0.02
Female gender, n (%)	16 (44.4)	45 (54.2)	0.33
BMI, kg/m², Me [IQR]	29.0 [24.8;34.7]	29.4 [26.6;33.1]	0.88
Family history of HOCM, n (%)	3 (8.3)	3 (3.6)	0.28
Syncope, n (%)	11 (30.6)	22 (26.5)	0.75
Angina, n (%)	16 (44.4)	59 (71.1)	0.01
NYHA functional class, n (%): I II III IV	5 (13.9) 21 (58.3) 9 (25) 1 (2.8)	4 (4.8) 44 (53.0) 32 (39.0) 3 (3.6)	0.24
Atrial fibrillation, n (%)	5 (13.8)	16 (19.2)	0.48
Ventricular arrhythmias, n (%)	4 (11.1)	12 (14.4)	0.62
ICD insertion, n (%)	2 (5.6)	1 (1.2)	0.17
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	4 (11.1)	6 (7.2)	0.48
Hypertension, n (%)	27 (75)	68 (82.0)	0.34
COPD, n (%)	5 (13.8)	9 (10.8)	0.64
LVEF, %, Me [IQR]	64 [62;72]	69 [64;73]	0.02
LVEDV, mL, Me [IQR]	81 [72;107]	81 [70;101]	0.74
LVESV, mL, Me [IQR]	29 [21;38]	24 [20;33]	0.12
SPAP, mmHg, Me [IQR]	24 [18;29]	30 [21;35]	0.04
IVS thickness, mm, M±SD	23.9±4.9	23.6±5.1	0.79
LVOT gradient, mmHg, Me [IQR]	54 [50;68]	73 [57;99]	<0.01
SAM, n (%)	35 (97.2)	83 (100)	0.13
MR grade, n (%): 1+ 2+ 3+ 4+	35 (100) 0 0 0	0 51 (61.4) 32 (38.6) 0	<0.01
EuroSCORE II, Me [IQR]	0.8 [0.56;0.80]	1.1 [0.75;1.5]	0.04

M±SD: Mean ± standard deviation, BMI: Body mass index, Me [IQR]: Median interquartile range, HOCM: Hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy, NYHA: New York Heart Association, ICD: Implantable cardioverter defibrillato, COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, LVEF: Left ventricular ejection fraction, LVEDV: Left ventricular end-diastolic volume, LVESV: Left ventricular end-systolic volume, SPAP: Systolic pulmonary artery pressur, IVS: Interventricular septum, LVOT: Left ventricular outflow tract, SAM: Systolic anterior motion, MR: Mitral regurgitation





compared using a χ^2 test or Fisher's exact test. The normal distribution of continuous variables was evaluated using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Continuous variables with normal distribution were presented as the mean \pm standard deviation and compared using t-test. Continuous variables with non-normal distribution were presented

as median [25th percentile-75th percentile] and compared using the non-paired Mann-Whitney U test. The statistical hypotheses were tested at a significance level of p=0.05, indicating that a difference was considered statistically significant if p<0.05. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis was performed to identify risk factors

Table 2. Operative and postoperative data

Parameter	Group 1 (MR <2+) (n=36)	Group 2 (MR <2+) (n=83)	p-value
CBP time, min, Me [IQR]	49 [43.6;57.3]	58 [45;69]	0.03
Cross-clamp time, min, Me [IQR]	31.5 [25.3;39.8]	34 [26;47.3]	0.18
Hospital mortality, n (%)	0	1 (1.2)	0.51
VSD, n (%)	0	0	1
Repeated aortic cross-clamping, n (%)	1 (2.8)	4 (4.8)	0.61
Mitral valve repair, n (%)	1 (2.8)	2 (2.4)	0.91
Mitral valve replacement, n (%)	0	1 (1.2)	0.51
Stroke, n (%)	0	1 (1.2)	0.51
Bleeding, n (%)	2 (5.6)	1 (1.2)	0.17
Atrial fibrillation, n (%)	7 (19.4)	14 (16.8)	0.12
Renal impairment, n (%)	1 (2.8)	0	0.13
PPM implantation for heart block, n (%)	2 (5.6)	6 (7.2)	0.74
Duration of stay in the ICU, days, Me [IQR]	2 [2;2]	2 [2;3]	0.5
Duration of postoperative stay in hospital, days, M±SD	11.3±2.9	10.8±2.6	0.29

CBP: Cardiopulmonary bypass, VSD: Ventricular septal defect, PPM: Permanent pacemaker, ICU: Intensive care unit, Me [IQR]: Median interquartile range, M±SD: Mean ± standard deviation



Figure 2. A) Segment of the interventricular septum excised as distally as possible (up to 5 cm)





for residual MR \geq 2+ after surgery. Data from the analysis are presented as ORs and 95% confidence intervals (OR; 95% CI).

Results

Surgical and Postoperative Periods

The mean CPB time was longer in the group with MR >2+ (58 [45;71] minutes or min. vs. 50 [44;57] minutes or min., p=0.01), with no difference in the cross-clamp time between the groups (32 [25;40] minutes or min. vs. 36 [26;48] minutes or min., p=0.09). One patient in group 1

(2.8%) and three patients in group 2 (3.6%) required repeated aortic cross-clamping to correct severe MR. In three cases, successful correction of MR was achieved by MV repair according to Calafiore; one patient from group 2 underwent MV replacement with a mechanical valve after an unsuccessful attempt at MV repair according to Calafiore. One patient in group 2 required repeat aortic cross-clamping and ascending aorta and hemiarch replacement due to aortic rupture. There were no cases of acute interventricular septal defect or repeated aortic cross-clamping to perform additional IVS resection due to a high residual LVOT gradient. One patient (1.3%) died in



Figure 2. B) Mitral regurgitation before (A, white arrow) and after (B) septal myectomy

Variables	Group 1 (MR <2+) n=36	Group 2 (MR <2+) n=79	p-value
IVS thickness, Me [IQR]	12 [10;13]	13 [11;14]	0.36
LVOT gradient, Me [IQR]	11 [9;17]	11 [7;18]	0.93
Residual SAM, n (%)	2 (5.6)	7 (8.4)	0.58
Residual LVOT gradient >30 mmHg, n (%)	2 (5.6)	4 (4.8)	0.87
MR grade, n (%): 1+ 2+ 3+ 4+	36 (100) 0 0 0	75 (91) 7 (9) 0	0.07

IVS: Interventricular septum, LVOT: Left ventricular outflow tract, SAM: Systolic anterior motion, MR: Mitral regurgitation, Me [IQR]: Median interquartile range, CI: Confidence interval, M±SD: Mean ± standard deviation

Kobzev et al. Septal Myectomy without Correction of Moderate and Severe Mitral Regurgitation



Risk factors for residual MR ≥2	Univariate analysis		Multivariate analysis	
	OR (95% CI)	р	OR (95% CI)	p-value
IVS thickness after SM	0.981 (0.885-1.089)	0.722	1.065 (0.893-1.269)	0.483
LVOT gradient after SM	1.106 (0.957-1.279)	0.183	1.003 (0.975-1.032)	0.821
Residual SAM	16.640 (3.387-81.747)	0.001	13.994 (2.692-72.744)	0.02

Table 4. Risk factors for residual mitral regurgitation ≥2+ after isolated septal myectomy

MR: Mitral regurgitation, IVS: Interventricular septum, SM: Septal myectomy, SAM: Systolic anterior motion, LVOT: Left ventricular outflow tract, OR: Odds ratio, CI: Confidence interval

group 2 due to mesenteric thrombosis; there were no deaths in group 1. two patients (5.6%) in group 1 and six patients (7.2%) in group 2 required permanent pacemaker implantation due to complete atrioventricular block (p=0.74). The groups did not differ significantly in terms of the frequency of other postoperative complications or duration of intensive care unit or hospital stay (Table 2).

Postoperative Hemodynamics

According to transthoracic echocardiography and MRI (Table 3), the majority of patients in group 2 (91%, n=75) and all patients in group 1 had MR grades 0-1 at discharge (Figure 2). Residual MR grade 2+ was identified in 7 patients (9%) in group 2. There was a significant decrease in IVS thickness in both groups, with no significant differences between the groups (group 1: 12 [10;13] mm, group 2: 13 [11;14] mm, p=0.36). The LVOT gradient was 11 [9;17] mmHg in group 1 and 11 [7;18] mmHg in group 2 (p=0.93) (Figure 3). Two patients (5.6%) in group 1 and four patients (4.8%) in group 2 had residual LVOT gradient \geq 30 mmHg (p=0.87). Residual SAM was identified in 2 patients (5.6%) in group 1 and 7 patients (8.4%) in group 2 (p=0.58). Univariate regression analysis identified residual SAM (OR: 16.640, 95% CI: 3.387-81.747, p=0.001) as a predictor of MR \geq 2+ after SM (Table 4). Multivariate regression analysis identified only residual SAM (OR: 13.994, 95% CI: 2.692-72.744, p=0.02) as a predictor of residual MR $\geq 2+$.

Discussion

In this study, we evaluated the clinical and hemodynamic results of isolated SM in patients with moderate and severe MR and compared them with patients with no or mild MR.



Figure 3. Maximum LVOT gradient before and after septal myectomy LVOT: Left ventricular outflow tract

We used MR grade after surgery as the primary endpoint. The main finding of the study was that most patients with severe MR after isolated SM experienced a reduction in the severity of MR, with MR grade 2 persisting in only 9% of cases. The frequency of repeated aortic occlusion for unplanned MV intervention due to persistent or increasing severe MR was 3.4%; and MV replacement was performed in only one case (0.8%).

The need for MR correction among patients with HOCM remains a topic of debate.

The Mayo Clinic, which has the greatest experience in the surgical treatment of HOCM (over 3000 patients), believes that isolated SM adequately eliminates left





ventricular (LV) obstruction and SAM-induced MV regurgitation under two conditions. First, the MR was likely due to SAM without MV pathology and anomalies. Second, sufficient extended SM, including excision of the IVS toward the apex beyond the mitral-septal contact, should be performed. When these conditions are met, concomitant MV surgery is rarely required. The frequency of unplanned correction of MR due to insufficient depth and length of IVS excision was 2.8%. After isolated SM, the proportion of patients with MR >3+ decreased from 54.3% to $1.7\%^{(4-6)}$.

Afanasyev et al.⁽¹⁵⁾ reported that 69% of patients with HOCM had moderate to severe MR before surgery, including those with independent MV pathology. MV annuloplasty due to MV pathology was performed in 8.6% of cases, and MV replacement was performed in 14.1% of cases. Residual MR >2+ was observed in 73 patients (12.8%), with the surgeon's individual experience (OR: 3.4, 95% CI: 1.5-7.7, p=0.003) and insufficient resection of the IVS (OR: 2.3, 95% CI: 1.4-3.8, p=0.002) identified as predictors by logistic regression analysis.

Proponents of a more aggressive approach to MR advocate for additional interventions on the MV, including MV replacement, edge-to-edge repair, anterior mitral leaflet plication, and secondary chordal resection. However, modern guidelines suggest that routine MV replacement should not be considered for patients with HOCM to eliminate LVOT obstruction, SAM, and MR because it is associated with increased early and long-term mortality risk⁽²⁾. Some authors have reported acceptable results of edge-to-edge SAM repair(10). Nonetheless, the Alfieri stitch does not completely eliminate LVOT obstruction in cases of incomplete SM, may result in higher MV gradients, and could lead to mitral stenosis or MR in the long term. Anterior mitral leaflet plication, which was first proposed by Cooley⁽¹¹⁾ and McIntosh et al.⁽¹²⁾, is actively used in Cleveland (25% of all septal myectomies). This technique involves longitudinal plication of the anterior MV leaflet with several separate mattress stitches using 4-0 Prolene sutures and may be beneficial for patients with HOCM and an elongated anterior MV leaflet.

Anomalies of the submittal structures can significantly contribute to the mechanism of LVOT obstruction, SAM, and MR, particularly in patients with lesser IVS thickness (<18 mm)^(10,16). These structures should be carefully evaluated for potential intervention, which may include: mobilization and excision of the accessory papillary muscle, excision of fibrous and muscular attachments between the mitral apparatus and the head of the papillary muscle, LV free wall, and IVS, and resection of the secondary chordae of the MV anterior leaflet. In our study, septal thickness did not influence the persistence of MR after surgery. Bogachev-Prokophiev et al.⁽⁹⁾, drawing on the experience of Ferrazzi et al.⁽⁸⁾, studied the effects of intervention performed on the submitral apparatus on postoperative gradient, residual MR, and SAM. All patients had moderate to severe MR at baseline. In the submitral intervention group compared with the isolated SM group, there was no residual MR (0% vs. 15%, p=0.013), SAM persisted less frequently (5% vs. 28%, p=0.007), and a lower LVOT gradient was observed (8 mmHg vs. 13 mmHg, p=0.019). Additionally, the need for repeated aortic cross-clamping was more common in the isolated SM group (17.5% vs. 2.5%, p=0.031). The authors concluded that, in most cases, extended SM is sufficient to achieve good results in patients with HOCM. However, when anomalies of the submittal structures are present, intervention may be the preferred approach.

The analysis of the secondary endpoints of this study (mortality, atrioventricular block, acute IVS defect, residual SAM, LVOT gradient >30 mmHg) demonstrated that our results were comparable to those obtained at centers with the greatest experience in surgical treatment of patients with HOCM. Mortality following SM was reported to be 0%-0.9% in the literature and 0.8% in our study population. The frequency of permanent pacemaker implantation was 0.9%-15% in the literature and 6.7% in our study; the frequency of acute IVS defect was 0%-5% in the literature and 0% in our study^(3,15,17). The most





experienced centers report residual SAM in 7-35% of cases and residual LVOT gradient >30 mmHg in 0%-11% of cases; in our study, residual SAM and residual LVOT gradient were reported in 7.6% and 5% of cases, respectively^(5,10,15). The surgeon's experience, depth, and length of IVS excision are commonly reported to be independent predictors of these adverse hemodynamic events^(5,15).

Study Limitations

This study is retrospective and based on our database, reflecting the experience of a single center. Both groups were represented by a small sample of patients. Longterm outcome studies and randomized trials are needed to select the optimal treatment for these patients.

Conclusion

In our study, among patients with moderate and severe MR, only 3.6% required repeated aortic cross-clamping and MV intervention. Before discharge, only 9% of the patients had moderate MR. Consequently, in most patients with HOCM and moderate/severe MR not due to organic MV lesions, isolated SM effectively relieves LVOT gradients, SAM of the MV, and associated MV regurgitation.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The conducted study complies with the standards of the Declaration of Helsinki, is approved by the Independent Ethical Committee of the Federal State Budgetary Institution Federal Center For Cardiovascular Surgery Ministry of Health of The Russian Federatio (Khabarovsk) (approval no: 39, date: 11.11.2023).

Informed Consent: This retrospective study.

Footnotes

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Kobzev EE, Rosseykin EV, Desai V, Concept: Kobzev EE, Rosseykin EV, Desai

V, Design: Kobzev EE, Rosseykin EV, Desai V, Data Collection and/or Processing: Kobzev EE, Analysis and/ or Interpretation: Kobzev EE, Literature Search: Kobzev EE, Writing: Kobzev EE, Rosseykin EV, Desai V.

Conflict of Interest: The author declare no conflicts of interest concerning the authorship or publication of this article.

Financial Disclosure: This research received no specific grants from any funding agency in the commercial or not-for-profit sectors.

References

- Arbelo E, Protonotarios A, Gimeno JR,et al. ESC Scientific Document Group. 2023 ESC Guidelines for the management of cardiomyopathies. Eur Heart J. 2023;44:3503-626.
- Ommen SR, Mital S, Burke MA, et al. 020 AHA/ACC Guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: executive summary: a report of the american college of cardiology/ American Heart Association Joint Committee On Clinical Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020;76:3022-55.
- Maron BJ, Dearani JA, Smedira NG, et al. Ventricular septal myectomy for obstructive hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (analysis spanning 60 years of practice): AJC Expert Panel. Am J Cardiol. 20221;180:124-39.
- Hong JH, Nguyen A, Schaff HV. Management of the mitral valve in patients with obstructive hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Indian J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2020;36 (Suppl 1):34-43.
- Nguyen A, Schaff HV, Nishimura RA, et al. Does septal thickness influence outcome of myectomy for hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy? Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2018;53:582-9.
- Nguyen A. Septal myectomy in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy with lesser septal thickness-mitral valve repair is not necessary. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 202;60:252.
- Desai MY, Bhonsale A, Smedira NG, et al. Predictors of long-term outcomes in symptomatic hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy patients undergoing surgical relief of left ventricular outflow tract obstruction. Circulation. 2013;128:209-16.
- 8. Ferrazzi P, Spirito P, Iacovoni A, et al. Transaortic chordal cutting: mitral valve repair for obstructive hypertrophic cardiomyopathy with mild septal hypertrophy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;66:1687-96.
- 9. Bogachev-Prokophiev A, Afanasyev AV, Zheleznev S, et al. Septal myectomy with vs without subvalvular apparatus intervention in patients with hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy: a prospective randomized study. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2019;31:424-31.
- Lapenna E, Alfieri O, Nisi T, et al. Mitral regurgitation in hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy: the role of the edge-to-edge technique. J Card Surg. 2022;37:3336-41.
- 11. Cooley DA. Surgical techniques for hypertrophic left ventricular obstructive myopathy including mitral valve plication. J Card Surg. 1991;6:29-33.





- McIntosh CL, Maron BJ, Cannon RO et al. Initial results of combined anterior mitral leaflet plication and ventricular septal myotomy-myectomy for relief of left ventricular outflow tract obstruction in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Circulation. 1992;86(5 Suppl):60-7.
- van der Lee C, Kofflard MJ, van Herwerden LA, Vletter WB, ten Cate FJ. Sustained improvement after combined anterior mitral leaflet extension and myectomy in hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy. Circulation. 2003;108:2088-92.
- Morrow AG. Hypertrophic subaortic stenosis. Operative methods utilized to relieve left ventricular outflow obstruction. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1978;76:423-30.
- 15. Afanasyev AV, Bogachev-Prokophiev AV, Zheleznev SI, et al. Early postseptal myectomy outcomes for hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann. 2022;30:74-83.
- Rowin EJ, Maron BJ, Chokshi A, et al. Clinical spectrum and management implications of left ventricular outflow obstruction with mild ventricular septal thickness in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Am J Cardiol. 2018;122:1409-20.
- Faisaluddin M, Ahmed A, Patel H, et al. Surgical outcomes of septal myectomy with and without mitral valve surgeries in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: a national propensity-matched analysis (2005 to 2020). Am J Cardiol. 2023 ;205:276-82.





J Updates Cardiovasc Med 2025;13(1):33-40

DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2024-7-62

The Dynamic Relationship Among Atrial Pacing, Premature Atrial Beats, Mode Switching, and Atrial High-Rate Episodes in Patients with Sick Sinus Syndrome

Barış Yaylak¹, Fuat Polat¹, Cuma Süleymanoğlu²

¹University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Dr. Siyami Ersek Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiology, İstanbul, Türkiye

²Osmaniye State Hospital, Clinic of Cardiology, Osmaniye, Türkiye

Abstract

Objectives: This study aimed to explore the association between atrial pacing percentage, frequency of premature atrial beats, and mode-switch episodes and the occurrence of atrial high-rate episodes (AHREs) in patients with sick sinus syndrome (SSS) who underwent dual-chamber pacemaker (DDDR) implantation.

Materials and Methods: This prospective, single-center, observational study included 60 patients with SSS and Medtronic DDDR pacemakers. Patients with pre-existing atrial fibrillation, ischemic stroke, heart failure, chronic renal failure, or insufficient follow-up data were excluded. Key parameters, such as atrial pacing percentage, premature atrial beats, mode-switch episodes, and AHREs, were evaluated at 1, 3, and 6 months and at 1 and 2 years after implantation.

Results: The mean age of the participants was 65.5 years, with 53.3% of them being male. During the first 3 months, atrial pacing percentage showed an inverse correlation with AHREs ($83.7\pm19.8\%$ at 1 month and $85.2\pm19.9\%$ at 3 months; p=0.026 and p=0.046, respectively). mode-switch episodes and premature atrial beats were significantly associated with AHREs within the first 6 months (mode-switch episodes: 11.2 ± 4.3 at 1 month, 11.4 ± 3.2 at 3 months, and 6.7 ± 3.1 at 6



Address for Correspondence: Fuat Polat, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Dr. Siyami Ersek Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiology, İstanbul, Türkiye e-mail: drfuatpolat@gmail.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-6414-3743

Received: 26.09.2024 Accepted: 13.01.2025 Epub: 27.01.2025 Publication Date: 25.03.2025

Cite this article as: Yaylak B, Polat F, Süleymanoğlu C. The dynamic relationship among atrial pacing, premature atrial beats, mode switching, and atrial high-rate episodes in patients with sick sinus syndrome. J Updates Cardiovasc Med. 2025;13(1):33-40. DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2024-7-62



Copyright[®] 2025 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Heart and Health Foundation of Turkey (HHFT). This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND) International License.





months; p=0.015, p=0.033, p=0.041; premature atrial beats: $6.8\pm2.3\%$ at 1 month, $7.1\pm2.1\%$ at 3 months, and $7.2\pm1.9\%$ at 6 months; p=0.015, p=0.022, p=0.031). AHRE prevalence increased progressively from $9.7\pm2.3\%$ at 1 month to $18.1\pm4.1\%$ at 3 months and $23.3\pm5.9\%$ at 6 months. However, these associations diminished after 6 months, persisting less significantly at 1 and 2 years. Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis determined a 94.5% atrial pacing percentage cut-off at 1 month, with a sensitivity of 68% and specificity of 82% [area under the curve (AUC): 0.806, p<0.001], and a 94% cut-off at 3 months, with sensitivity and specificity of 68% and 90%, respectively (AUC: 0.801, p<0.001). For mode-switch episodes, a 1.5 cut-off value at both 1 and 3 months yielded sensitivities of 73% and 74% and specificities of 99% and 98%, respectively (AUC: 0.890 and 0.895, p<0.001).

Conclusion: This study highlights a time-dependent relationship between pacing parameters and AHREs in patients with SSS. The early post-implantation periods showed significant correlations, which diminished over time. These findings underscore the importance of regular monitoring for optimal management of SSS patients with DDDR pacemakers.

Keywords: Atrial high-rate episodes, sick sinus syndrome, atrial pacing, atrial premature beat, mode switch episodes

Introduction

Atrial high-rate episodes (AHREs) are asymptomatic atrial tachyarrhythmias identified through cardiac implantable electronic devices (CIEDs). These episodes were observed in individuals without a documented history of atrial fibrillation (AF) or AF on standard electrocardiograms. Although AHREs are associated with an increased risk of thromboembolism, this risk is generally lower than that observed in clinical AF. Notably, a higher AHRE burden is correlated with an elevated thromboembolic risk, which may progress over time and potentially precede the development of clinical AF^(1,2).

Sinoatrial node dysfunction, commonly referred to as sick sinus syndrome (SSS), can result in various cardiac anomalies. These irregularities may cause symptoms such as palpitations, fatigue, dizziness, syncope, and reduced tissue perfusion. SSS primarily affects individuals aged 65 years and older with a history of cardiac conditions, with an estimated prevalence of 1-2% in this demographic, impacting both genders equally⁽³⁾.

SSS is characterized by a disruption in sinoatrial node activity, leading to electrocardiographic manifestations, such as sinus bradycardia, sinus arrest, and sinoatrial block. These abnormalities are often accompanied by episodes of supraventricular tachyarrhythmias, forming a condition known as "tachy-brady syndrome". In cases with significant clinical impact, pacemaker implantation is typically required. SSS is one of the leading indications for pacemaker implantation, accounting for 30%-50% of such procedures in the United States⁽⁴⁾.

Permanent pacemakers are recommended for patients with sinus node dysfunction accompanied by symptomatic bradycardia or chronotropic incompetence. Dual-chamber pacemakers (DDDRs) are often preferred in these cases because of their ability to address the increased likelihood of atrioventricular (AV) block⁽⁵⁾.

The relationship between atrial pacing algorithms and the prevention of AHREs remains an ongoing research. SSSs and AF frequently coexist and influence each other in a complex manner. This study aimed to explore the association between atrial pacing percentages, early atrial beat frequencies, mode-switching episodes, and the occurrence of AHREs over a long-term follow-up period in patients diagnosed with SSS who have received DDDRs and have no prior diagnosis of AF.

Materials and Methods

This prospective, single-center observational study included a cohort of 60 patients who met the inclusion criteria. Participants were selected from individuals diagnosed with SSS who underwent DDDR pacemaker





implantation. All pacemakers used in the study were Medtronic devices, with the AHRE detection feature activated in each device.

To maintain a uniform study population, only patients with a confirmed diagnosis of SSS and DDDR pacemaker implantation using Medtronic devices were included. Individuals with a prior diagnosis of AF and those with a history of ischemic stroke, heart failure, or chronic renal failure were excluded. Patients with incomplete follow-up data were also excluded from the analysis.

The atrial leads in these pacemakers are capable of detecting atrial electrical activity and identifying prespecified events, including AHREs. AHREs were defined as episodes lasting at least 5 minutes with an atrial rate exceeding 175 beats per minute (bpm) (Figure 1). AF was categorized into three types: paroxysmal AF (self-terminating within 7 days), persistent AF (lasting more than 7 days but less than 1 year), and permanent AF (persisting for over 1 year). All detected AHREs were independently reviewed by two clinicians, and classification decisions were made through mutual agreement. The devices continuously monitored atrial rhythm and automatically recorded relevant data, including arrhythmia events.

Mode switching was defined as the pacemaker's transition from tracking mode to non-tracking mode

during episodes of atrial tachyarrhythmia, with a return to tracking mode following the termination of the arrhythmia. Atrial premature beats (APBs) were defined as extra beats originating from atrial regions other than the sinus node preceding a normal heartbeat.

Demographic and clinical data, including age, sex, and comorbid conditions, were documented for all participants. A structured follow-up protocol was designed to assess AHRE trends over time, with evaluations conducted at 1, 3, and 6 months, as well as at 1 and 2 years after implantation. The parameters assessed during each followup were AHRE percentage, atrial pacing percentage, number of APBs, mode-switch episodes, and AF status.

The primary endpoint of this study was to investigate the relationship between atrial pacing percentage, APB frequency, and mode-switch episodes and the occurrence of AHREs in patients with SSS implanted with DDDR pacemakers.

The ethical principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki were strictly adhered to throughout the study. Approval for this research was given by the ethics committee under the Protocol on the Conduct of Research Conducted Between Osmaniye Provincial Health Directorate and the Owner of the Scientific Research (approval no.: E-77378720-605.01-224398439, date:



Figure 1. AHRE example recorded from patient AHRE: Atrial high-rate episode





13.09.2023). All participants provided written informed consent before study enrollment.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize patients' demographic and clinical characteristics, with results presented as means, standard deviations, frequencies, and percentages. Categorical variables, such as AHRE presence and mode changes, were analyzed using chi-square or Fisher's exact test. For continuous variables, including atrial and ventricular pacing percentages, independent t-tests were used for data with normal distributions.

To examine the influence of device events on AHRE development, a multivariate Cox regression analysis was conducted. Additionally, receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis was performed to determine the impact of atrial pacing frequency and mode-switch episodes on AHRE occurrence. Statistical significance was set at a p-value of <0.05. All statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS version 25 (Chicago, IL, USA).

Results

The study enrolled a total of 60 patients, with a mean age of 65.5 years (\pm 7.3). Male participants comprised 53.3% of the group (32 individuals). Hypertension was reported in 48.3% of the participants, and coronary artery disease was noted in 30.0%. Regarding antiarrhythmic therapy, 61.7% (37 patients) were prescribed betablockers, 23.3% (14 patients) were treated with calcium channel blockers, 5.0% (3 patients) used propafenone, 3.3% (2 patients) were on sotalol, and 11.7% (7 patients) received amiodarone (Table 1).

At the end of the 2-year follow-up, 38 patients were diagnosed with atrial AF. Of these, 27 were initiated on direct oral anticoagulants and 3 were prescribed warfarin. Three patients with a CHA_2DS_2 -VASc score of 1 were started on acetylsalicylic acid, and no antiplatelet or anticoagulant therapy was initiated for five patients with a CHA_2DS_2 -VASc score of 0. During the monitoring period, ischemic stroke occurred in five patients, and one patient receiving warfarin experienced a hemorrhagic stroke.

ed Device data from all participants who underwent pacemaker implantation for sick SSS were thoroughly analyzed. Each participant had a Medtronic pacemaker with a DDDR. The average lower rate limit of the pacemakers was 61.2 bpm (±3.6). At the end of the follow-lts up period, 63.3% (38 patients) developed AF.

The atrial pacing percentage, APBs, mode-switch episodes, and AHREs were evaluated at specified intervals-1, 3, and 6 months, as well as 1 and 2 years after implantation-and are summarized in Table 2.

Cox regression analysis identified a significant inverse association between atrial pacing percentage and AHRE occurrence during the 1st and 3rd months (p=0.026 and p=0.046, respectively). However, this relationship was not observed at 6 months, 1 year, or 2 years. Additionally, a significant association was found between mode-switch episodes, APBs, and AHREs during the initial 1st, 3rd, and 6th months (p=0.015, p=0.033, and p=0.041 for modeswitch episodes; p=0.014, p=0.022, and p=0.031 for APBs). These associations diminished by the 1st and 2nd years of follow-up (Table 3).

ROC curve analysis was performed for the 1^{st} and 3^{rd} months to evaluate the predictive impact atrial pacing

Table 1. Patient characteristics and antiarrhythmic drugs

Patient characteristics	(n=60)
Age (years) (mean±SD)	65.5 ± 7.3
Sex (male) (%)	32 (53.3)
Active smoker (%)	29 (48.3)
DM (%)	13 (21.7)
HT (%)	28 (46.7)
CAD (%)	18 (30.0)
Valvular disease*(%)	13 (21.7)
Hyperlipidemia (%)	19 (31.7)
Antiarrhythmic drugs	
Beta-blocker	37 (61.7)
Calcium channel blocker	14 (23.3)
Propafenone	3 (5.0)
Sotalol	2 (3.3)
Amiodarone	7 (11.7)

CAD: Coronary artery disease, DM: Diabetes mellitus, HT: Hypertension, SD: Standard deviation. *moderate to severe valve regurgitation or valve stenosis



percentage and mode-switch episodes on AHREs. In the 1st month, an atrial pacing percentage cut-off value of 94.5% yielded a sensitivity of 68% and a specificity of 82% [area under the curve (AUC): 0.806, p<0.001]. This cut-off remained consistent in the 3rd month at 94%, with a sensitivity of 68% and a specificity of 90% (AUC: 0.801, p<0.001). Regarding mode-switch episodes, the 1st month cut-off value was 1.5, achieving 73% sensitivity and 99% specificity (AUC: 0.890, p<0.001). The same cutoff was maintained in the 3rd month, with 74% sensitivity and 98% specificity (AUC: 0.895, p<0.001) (Figure 2).

Discussion

In this study, we explored the complex relationship between atrial pacing, mode-switch episodes, premature atrial contractions, and the occurrence of AHREs in patients with SSS who received DDDR. During the first 3 months following pacemaker implantation, an

Mean pacemaker lower rate limit (bpm) (mean±SD)	61.2±3.6
Atrial pacing percentage (mean ± SD) First month Third month Sixth month First-year Second year	83.7±19.8 85.2±19.9 84.7±23.1 86.5±22.3 87.4±20.7
Atrial premature beat percentage (mean±SD) First month Third month Sixth month First-year Second year	6.8±2.3 7.1±2.1 7.2±1.9 6.9±2.3 7.0±2.1
Mode switch episode (mean±SD) First month Third month Sixth month First-year Second year	11.2±4.3 11.4±3.2 6.7±3.1 2.4±1.9 2.1±1.1
Atrial high-rate episode (mean±SD) First month Third month Sixth month First-year Second year	9.7±2.3 18.1±4.1 23.3±5.9 29.2±6.3 35.8±8.1
Patients diagnosed with atrial fibrillation n (%)	38 (63.3)
SD: Standard deviation, bpm: Beats per minute	

dp dp37dp

inverse association was observed between atrial pacing percentage and AHREs. However, this link diminished over longer follow-up periods. Similarly, mode-switch episodes and the frequency of premature atrial beats were significantly correlated with AHREs during the initial six months, but these associations were no longer evident beyond that timeframe. These findings emphasize the importance of the early post-implantation period in AHRE development in this patient group.

AF is a well-documented comorbidity in individuals with SSS⁽⁶⁾. However, the causal relationship between AF and SSS remains debated-whether AF is a precursor to SSS or SSS predisposes patients to AF. AF induces structural and functional changes in the sinus node at cellular and molecular levels, which may contribute to SSS. Mechanisms such as sinus node dysfunction, AF, and electrical remodeling are thought to play a role in initiating AF, supporting previous research in this area^(7,8). Additionally, evidence suggests that AHREs detected by CIEDs serve as predictors for future AF episodes, although the specific prevalence and predictors of AHREs in SSS patients with pacemakers remain less defined^(9,10).

Table 3. Effects of device events	on the development of Atrial
High-Rate Episodes	

Multivariable cox regression analysis						
Device events	Hazard ratio	95% Confidence interval	p-value			
Atrial pacing percentage First month Third month Sixth month First year Second year	0.984 0.986 0.989 0.990 0.989	0.971-0.998 0.973-0.999 0.978-1.000 0.978-1.001 0.976-1.002	0.026 0.046 0.059 0.085 0.095			
Atrial premature beat percentage First month Third month Sixth month First year Second year	1.040 1.038 1.035 1.040 1.037	1.013-1.078 1.006-1.072 1.007-1.064 0.974-1.110 0.909-1.183	0.014 0.022 0.031 0.241 0.590			
Mode switch episode First month Third month Sixth month First year Second year	1.020 1.015 1.012 1.031 1.012	1.004-1.036 1.001-1.030 1.001-1.024 0.983-1.082 0.980-1.046	0.015 0.033 0.041 0.210 0.461			







Atrial pacing percentage first month

Mode switch episode first month

Risk Factor	AUC (95% CI)	Cutoff	P Value	Sensitivity	Specificity
Atrial pacing percentage					
First month	0.806	94.5	<0.001	0.68	0.82
Third month	0.801	94.0	<0.001	0.68	0.90
Mode switch episode					
First month	0.890	1.5	<0.001	0.73	0.99
third month	0.895	1.5	<0.001	0.74	0.98

AUC: Area Under the Curve, CI: Confidence Interval

Figure 2. Representation of the effect of atrial pacing frequency and mode-switching episodes in terms of the development of AHRE by ROC analysis

AHRE: Atrial high-rate episode, AUC: Area under the curve, CI: Confidence interval, ROC: Receiver operating characteristic

The sinus node is involved in the pathogenesis of both SSS and AF. Mechanistic theories, such as the "wavelength of re-entry" and "focal source hypothesis," underscore the role of electrical remodeling and sustained re-entry in arrhythmogenesis^(11,12). In SSS, slowed atrial conduction often leads to compensatory pauses and activation of ectopic atrial foci, which may trigger AHREs. Multifocal atrial rhythms, which are often observed before AHRE onset, further illustrate the interplay between sinus node dysfunction and atrial arrhythmias⁽¹³⁾.

Our analysis revealed that atrial pacing was inversely associated with AHRE development during the initial 3 months of follow-up, although this protective effect waned over time. Additionally, mode-switch episodes and premature atrial contractions were strongly associated with AHREs during the first six months but showed no significant correlation was observed in subsequent followup periods. These temporal patterns highlight the dynamic nature of these relationships and suggest the need for targeted monitoring and management in the early postimplantation period.

DDDR pacemakers are instrumental in optimizing cardiac function by preserving AV synchrony and preventing bradycardia-induced tachyarrhythmias. Studies have suggested that higher pacing rates in such devices may allow for greater beta-blocker dosing, potentially





reducing the incidence of AHREs⁽¹⁴⁻¹⁶⁾. However, the potential impact of elevated pacing percentages and ventricular pacing on long-term AHRE risk requires further investigation. Current guidelines advocate the use of DDDR that maintain AV synchrony as the preferred approach for managing SSS⁽¹⁷⁻¹⁹⁾.

Mode-switching algorithms designed to detect and respond to atrial tachyarrhythmias play a pivotal role in preventing inappropriate atrial pacing and tracking during arrhythmic events. The frequency of mode-switch episodes is a reliable marker of AHRE burden given the sensitivity and specificity of modern pacemaker algorithms. Despite their effectiveness, occasional atrial sensing disruptions due to AHREs may occur, but these are typically resolved through tracking algorithms⁽²⁰⁾.

Premature atrial contractions, which were once considered benign, are now recognized as significant risk factors for AF. The observed association between AHREs and early atrial contractions in our study underscores their role as precursors to arrhythmias like AF. These findings emphasize the importance of early detection and intervention for managing atrial arrhythmias and preventing progression to more severe conditions^(21,22).

Study Limitations

This study has several limitations that should be considered. First, the sample size was relatively small, which may limit the generalizability of our findings to a broader population. Second, this was a single-center study, and potential variations in clinical practices or patient populations at other institutions were not considered. Third, although the follow-up period was sufficient to observe the early and mid-term dynamics of AHREs, longer follow-up may be required to understand the full trajectory of AHRE development and its clinical implications. Additionally, the study did not account for potential confounding factors such as variations in comorbid conditions, medication adherence, or changes in pacemaker settings over time. Future studies with larger multicenter cohorts and longer follow-up periods are necessary to validate and expand upon these findings.

Conclusion

Our study highlights the dynamic interplay between atrial pacing percentage, mode switch episode, and premature atrial beats in relation to the development of AHREs in patients undergoing SSS post-DDDR implantation. The initial 3 months after implantation demonstrated a significant inverse relationship between atrial pacing percentage and AHREs, alongside notable associations between mode switch episode and APBs with AHREs during the first six months. However, these relationships weakened over time, suggesting that early monitoring and intervention are crucial in mitigating the risk of AHREs in this patient population. Our findings underscore the importance of ongoing research to further elucidate the mechanisms and long-term implications of AHREs in patients with SSS.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The ethical principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki were strictly adhered to throughout the study. Approval for this research was given by the ethics committee under the Protocol on the Conduct of Research Conducted Between Osmaniye Provincial Health Directorate and the Owner of the Scientific Research (approval no.: E-77378720-605.01-224398439, date:13.09.2023).

Informed Consent: The need for patient consent for enrollment and publication was waived because of the retrospective design.

Footnotes

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Yaylak B, Süleymanoğlu C, Concept: Polat F, Süleymanoğlu C, Design: Yaylak B, Süleymanoğlu C, Data Collection and/ or Processing: Polat F, Süleymanoğlu C, Analysis and/





or Interpretation: Yaylak B, Polat F, Literature Search: Yaylak B, Polat F, Writing: Polat F.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare no conflicts of interest concerning the authorship or publication of this article.

Financial Disclosure: This research received no specific grants from any funding agency in the commercial or not-for-profit sector.

References

- 1. Boriani G, Vitolo M, Imberti JF,et al. What do we do about atrial high rate episodes? Eur Heart J Suppl. 2020;22(Suppl O):O42-O52.
- Toennis T, Bertaglia E, Brandes A, et al. The influence of atrial highrate episodes on stroke and cardiovascular death: an update. Europace. 2023;25:euad166.
- Adán V, Crown LA. Diagnosis and treatment of sick sinus syndrome. Am Fam Physician. 2003;67:1725-32.
- Jensen PN, Gronroos NN, Chen LY, et al. Incidence of and risk factors for sick sinus syndrome in the general population. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;64:531-8.
- 5. Ferrer MI. The sick sinus syndrome in atrial disease. JAMA. 1968;206:645-6.
- Yang PS, Kim D, Jang E, et al. Risk of sick sinus syndrome in patients diagnosed with atrial fibrillation: a population-based cohort. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2021;32:2704-14.
- Jansen HJ, Bohne LJ, Gillis AM, et al. Atrial remodeling and atrial fibrillation in acquired forms of cardiovascular disease. Heart Rhythm O2. 2020;1:147-59.
- Polat F, Ko AL. Comparison of patients with atrial fibrillation without structural heart disease and normal population in terms of urine catecholamines. Turk Kardiyol Dern Ars. 2023;51:168-73.
- Mahajan R, Perera T, Elliott AD, et al. Subclinical device-detected atrial fibrillation and stroke risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Heart J. 2018;39:1407-15.
- Healey JS, Connolly SJ, Gold MR, et al. Subclinical atrial fibrillation and the risk of stroke. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:120-9.

- 11. Kezerashvili A, Krumerman AK, Fisher JD. Sinus node dysfunction in atrial fibrillation: cause or effect? J Atr Fibrillation. 2008;1:30.
- Lee S, Khrestian CM, Sahadevan J, et al. Reconsidering the multiple wavelet hypothesis of atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm. 2020;17:1976-83.
- Antzelevitch C, Burashnikov A. Overview of basic mechanisms of cardiac arrhythmia. Card Electrophysiol Clin. 2011;3:23-45.
- Dretzke J, Toff WD, Lip GY, et al. Dual chamber versus single chamber ventricular pacemakers for sick sinus syndrome and atrioventricular block. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2004;2004:CD003710.
- Elsokkari I, Abdelwahab A, Parkash R. Polymorphic ventricular tachycardia due to change in pacemaker programming. HeartRhythm Case Rep. 2017;3:243-7.
- Ziff OJ, Samra M, Howard JP, et al. Beta-blocker efficacy across different cardiovascular indications: an umbrella review and meta-analytic assessment. BMC Med. 2020;18:103.
- Dawood M, Elsharkawy E, Abdel-Hay MA, et al. Effects of cardiac pacemakers on left ventricular volumes and function assessed by 3D echocardiography, Doppler method, and global longitudinal strain. Egypt Heart J. 2021;73:16.
- Krzemień-Wolska K, Tomasik A, Wojciechowska C, et al. Prognostic factors in patients with an implanted pacemaker after 80 years of age in a 4-year follow-up. Gerontology. 2018;64:107-117.
- Xie JM, Fang F, Zhang Q, et al. Atrial dysfunction and interatrial dyssynchrony predict atrial high rate episodes: insight into the distinct effects of right atrial appendage pacing. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2012;23:384-90.
- Israel CW. Mode-switch-algorithmen: programmierbarkeit und nutzen [mode-switching algorithms: programming and usefulness]. Herz. 2001;26:2-17.
- de Voogt WG, van Hemel NM, van de Bos AA, et al. Verification of pacemaker automatic mode switching for the detection of atrial fibrillation and atrial tachycardia with Holter recording. Europace. 2006;8:950-61.
- Farinha JM, Gupta D, Lip GYH. Frequent premature atrial contractions as a signalling marker of atrial cardiomyopathy, incident atrial fibrillation, and stroke. Cardiovasc Res. 2023;119:429-39.





J Updates Cardiovasc Med 2025;13(1):41-52

DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2025-9-139

Potential Protective Effects of Boldine in Rat with an Experimental Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Model

Büseyin Demirtaş¹ Alperen Kutay Yıldırım¹ Abdullah Özer¹ Ali Doğan Dursun^{2,3,4} Şaban Cem Sezen⁵ Zeynep Yığman⁶ Ayşegül Küçük⁷ Mustafa Arslan^{8,9,10}

¹Gazi University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

²Atılım University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Ankara, Türkiye

³Atılım University Vocational School of Health Services, Ankara, Türkiye

⁴Medicana International Ankara Hospital, Home Care Services, Ankara, Türkiye

⁵Kırıkkale University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Kırıkkale, Türkiye

⁶Gazi University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Ankara, Türkiye

⁷Kütahya Health Sciences University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Kütahya, Türkiye

⁸Gazi University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Ankara, Türkiye

⁹Gazi University, Application and Research Centre for Life Sciences, Ankara, Türkiye

¹⁰Gazi University, Centre for Laboratory Animal Breeding and Experimental Research, Ankara, Türkiye

Abstract

Objectives: Myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury (MIRI) remains a major challenge in cardiovascular medicine due to its complex pathophysiology involving oxidative stress, inflammation, and cellular dysfunction. Boldine, a potent natural alkaloid with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties, has demonstrated protective effects in various pathological conditions. However, its potential cardioprotective effects in MIRI remain largely unexplored. This study aims to evaluate the protective effects of Boldine in a rat model of MIRI by assessing oxidative stress markers, histopathological changes, and inflammatory responses.



Address for Correspondence: Hüseyin Demirtaş, Gazi University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye

e-mail: drhuseyindemirtas@yahoo.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-5710-1385 Received: 05.02.2025 Accepted: 28.02.2025 Publication Date: 25.03.2025

Cite this article as: Demirtaş H, Yıldırım AK, Özer A, et al. Potential protective effects of boldine in rat with an experimental myocardial ischemia-reperfusion model. J Updates Cardiovasc Med. 2025;13(1):41-52.

DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2025-9-139



Copyright[©] 2025 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Heart and Health Foundation of Turkey (HHFT). This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND) International License.



Abstract

Materials and Methods: Male Albino Wistar rats were randomly assigned to four groups: Control, Boldine, myocardial ischemia-reperfusion (MIR), and myocardial ischemia-reperfusion + Boldine (MIR+B). Myocardial ischemia was induced by ligating the left anterior descending coronary artery for 30 minutes, followed by 120 minutes of reperfusion. Boldine (50 mg/kg) was administered intraperitoneally at the onset of reperfusion. Cardiac tissue samples were collected for histopathological evaluation and biochemical analysis, including total antioxidant status (TAS), total oxidant status (TOS), and Oxidative Stress index (OSI).

Results: Histopathological analysis revealed significant myocardial disorganization and inflammation in the MIR group compared to controls (p=0.05). Boldine treatment significantly reduced inflammation and myocardial disorganization in the MIR+B group (p<0.05), suggesting a protective effect. Biochemical analysis showed a marked decrease in TAS levels and an increase in TOS and OSI in the MIR group (p<0.001). However, Boldine administration significantly restored TAS levels and reduced TOS and OSI in the MIR+B group (p<0.001), indicating attenuation of oxidative stress.

Conclusion: Boldine exhibits significant cardioprotective effects in a rat model of MIRI by reducing oxidative stress, mitigating myocardial disorganization, and alleviating inflammation. These findings suggest that Boldine may serve as a therapeutic agent in ischemic heart disease. Further research is warranted to elucidate its precise mechanisms of action and potential clinical applications.

Keywords: Myocard, ischemia-reperfusion, boldine, TAS, TOS, OSI, interstitial fibrosis, inflammation, myocardial disorganization

Introduction

Ischemic heart disease (IHD) remains one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality world-wide, with cardiovascular diseases accounting for nearly half of all deaths annually in developed countries⁽¹⁾. The most common form of IHD, coronary artery disease, is characterized by the progressive narrowing of coronary arteries due to atherosclerotic plaque formation, and, in some cases, vasospasm⁽²⁾. This reduction in myocardial blood supply often manifests clinically as angina, myocardial infarction, or chronic heart failure, placing a substantial burden on healthcare systems globally⁽³⁾. The pathophysiological hallmark of IHD is an imbalance between myocardial oxygen supply and demand, which leads to ischemic injury and subsequent complications⁽⁴⁾. As therapeutic interventions continue to advance, current research is increasingly focused on strategies to mitigate ischemic damage and promote myocardial recovery⁽⁵⁻⁷⁾.

Myocardial ischemic injury results from a significant disruption in coronary blood flow, leading to a spectrum

of clinical manifestations. Decades of research have provided insights into the complex responses of myocardial tissue to ischemia, uncovering a cascade of metabolic and structural changes that can progress to irreversible damage⁽²⁻⁴⁾. Ischemia is marked by oxygen deprivation due to insufficient blood supply, which causes cellular energy depletion and the accumulation of toxic metabolic byproducts^(2,8,9). Although the restoration of blood flow is essential for clearing metabolites and initiating tissue repair, reperfusion paradoxically exacerbates tissue damage through mechanisms such as oxidative stress, calcium overload, and inflammatory responses^(2,10,11). This dual-edged nature of ischemia-reperfusion (IR) injury highlights the intricate complexity of myocardial pathology.

Myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury (MIRI) involves a cascade of metabolic, structural, and histopathological changes that begin during ischemia and are exacerbated upon reperfusion. During ischemia, the deprivation of oxygen and nutrients leads to a decline in



oxidative phosphorylation, resulting in a marked reduction in the synthesis of high-energy phosphates such as adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and phosphocreatine. This energy deficit impairs the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase pump, leading to intracellular accumulation of sodium and calcium ions⁽¹²⁾. Elevated calcium levels activate proteases and phospholipases, compromising the integrity of cellular membranes and contractile proteins^(2,12). Anaerobic glycolysis becomes the primary energy source, producing lactate and hydrogen ions, which cause intracellular acidosis and disrupt ion transport systems. This acidosis promotes the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and diminishes antioxidant enzyme activity, rendering cells highly vulnerable to oxidative stress upon reperfusion^(2,4). Histologically, ischemic cardiomyocytes exhibit early changes such as mitochondrial and sarcoplasmic reticulum swelling, cytoplasmic vacuolization, and chromatin clumping in the nucleus^(2,12). Prolonged ischemia leads to irreversible damage, including contraction band necrosis due to hypercontracted myofibrils and calcium phosphate deposition in mitochondria. These changes are accompanied by membrane defects and leakage of intracellular contents. Upon reperfusion, the rapid influx of oxygen exacerbates these injuries by generating excessive reactive oxygen species (ROS). ROS destabilize mitochondrial membranes, further activating proteases and phospholipases, and amplifying cellular damage $^{(3,12)}$. Reperfusion also elicits significant inflammatory responses, marked by neutrophil infiltration. These inflammatory cells release proteolytic enzymes and ROS, compounding the damage. Histopathological findings include interstitial edema, hemorrhage, and microvascular obstruction commonly referred to as the "no-reflow" phenomenon. In infarcted zones, necrotic myocytes display cellular and organelle swelling, while apoptotic cells exhibit nuclear fragmentation and membrane blebbing. These injuries often extend beyond the infarcted region, contributing to adverse ventricular remodeling and long-term myocardial dysfunction⁽²⁻⁴⁾. This intricate interplay of metabolic and structural damage, coupled



with the inflammatory response, underscores the dual challenge posed by IR injury and highlights the critical need for targeted therapeutic strategies to mitigate its effects.

Boldine, an alkaloid derived from the Chilean boldo tree (Peumus boldus), has gained recognition as a potent natural antioxidant with remarkable pharmacological properties^(13,14). Its antioxidant efficacy is primarily attributed to its ability to neutralize ROS, prevent lipid peroxidation (LPO), and enhance cellular antioxidant defenses^(14,15). Studies have demonstrated that Boldine effectively inhibits free radical-induced erythrocyte hemolysis and protects against LPO in human liver microsomes^(13,16). In diabetic animal models, Boldine has been shown to normalize elevated activities of manganese superoxide dismutase (SOD) and glutathione (GSH) peroxidase in pancreatic mitochondria, underscoring its role in mitigating oxidative stress-induced damage^(14,17). Furthermore, Boldine exhibits protective effects on the vascular system by reducing oxidative stress and improving endothelial function. Specifically, Boldine attenuates nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase-mediated superoxide production, a mechanism implicated in endothelial dysfunction in conditions such as hypertension and diabetes. By decreasing superoxide levels, Boldine preserves nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability, a critical factor for maintaining vascular health⁽¹⁷⁾. Additionally, studies in animal models have reported that Boldine treatment reduces malondialdehyde levels, a marker of LPO, and enhances mitochondrial integrity in organs such as the liver and pancreas⁽¹⁸⁻²¹⁾. Boldine's neuroprotective properties have also been demonstrated under ischemic conditions. Konrath et al.⁽²²⁾ observed that Boldine significantly reduced lipoperoxidation and enhanced cellular viability in hippocampal slices subjected to oxygen and glucose deprivation, mimicking stroke-induced oxidative stress. Its dual antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties extend to suppressing inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), and mitigating oxidative damage in inflammatory conditions.





Although Boldine has been extensively studied for its antioxidant and cytoprotective effects across various organ systems, research specifically addressing its impact on myocardial tissue remains limited. Cardiomyocytes are particularly vulnerable to oxidative damage, especially during IR injury, as the imbalance between ROS production and antioxidant defenses results in cellular dysfunction and necrosis. While Boldine's efficacy has been welldocumented in neuroprotective and hepatoprotective models, its potential to safeguard myocardial tissue from IR injury has yet to be fully explored.

This study aims to evaluate the protective effects of Boldine in a rat model of experimental MIRI. By investigating its antioxidant properties and underlying mechanisms of action, we seek to determine whether Boldine can mitigate oxidative damage, preserve myocardial function, and reduce overall tissue injury during IR. This research aims to provide new insights into Boldine's therapeutic potential in cardiovascular medicine and explore its applicability as a cardioprotective agent in IHD.

Materials and Methods

Animals

This study was conducted using male Albino Wistar rats, aged 12 weeks and weighing between 270 and 320 grams. The animals were sourced and raised within a specialized experimental research facility in Ankara, Türkiye (approval no: E-66332047-604.01-1128916, date: 27.12.2024) and were performed in a dedicated laboratory for animal research. The rats were housed individually in a controlled environment, with the temperature maintained at 20-21 °C and humidity levels kept within a range of 45-55%. A 12-hour light/dark cycle was strictly observed, and the animals had unlimited access to standard laboratory chow and purified water.

Chemicals

Boldine was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA). For treatment, a fresh solution

was prepared by dissolving the powdered compound in distilled water, which was then administered via intraabdominal injection at a dose of 50 mg/kg. The dosage used in this study was based on previously established reference data⁽²³⁾.

Experimental Protocol

The animals were randomly divided into four groups, each consisting of six rats: Control group (C), Boldine group (B), myocardial ischemia-reperfusion (MIR) group, and myocardial ischemia-reperfusion + Boldine group.

was induced using intraperitoneal Anesthesia injections of 50 mg/kg ketamine and 10 mg/kg xylazine, with the same dose of ketamine administered to all rats to standardize its effect on cardiac output⁽¹⁰⁾. The rats' trachea was cannulated for artificial ventilation, and the rats' chest was shaved before securing the rats in a supine position on the operating table. A left thoracotomy was performed approximately 2 mm left of the sternum, between the fourth and fifth intercostal spaces. After opening the pericardium, the left anterior descending (LAD) coronary artery was visualized, and an 8/0 silk suture was carefully placed around it using a 10-mm micropoint reverse-cutting needle. Ischemia was induced by tightening the suture with a plastic snare for 30 minutes. Reperfusion was initiated by releasing the tension and allowing unrestricted blood flow for 120 minutes. Boldine (50 mg/kg)⁽²³⁾ was administered intraperitoneally 30 minutes after LAD occlusion. This timing was chosen based on previous studies suggesting optimal absorption and bioavailability during ischemic stress, thereby enhancing its cardioprotective effects during subsequent reperfusion⁽⁶⁾.

Throughout the procedure, anesthesia depth was monitored every 10 minutes by assessing reflex responses (intermittent tail pinch and corneal reflex). If a positive response was observed, additional doses of 20 mg/kg ketamine and 5 mg/kg xylazine were administered intraperitoneally⁽¹⁰⁾. At the end of the reperfusion period, all rats were deeply anesthetized with 50 mg/kg ketamine and 10 mg/kg xylazine; Then they were sacrificed via





aortic blood collection (5-10 mL)⁽⁶⁻¹⁰⁾. After the cessation of both heartbeat and respiration, death was confirmed by the absence of the corneal reflex and spontaneous breathing for an additional 2 minutes. Following 120 minutes of reperfusion, myocardial tissue samples were carefully excised for biochemical and histopathological analysis. The tissues were collected intact to prevent trauma and were immediately processed. Samples intended for histopathological examination were fixed in 10% formalin, while those for biochemical analysis were frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C.

Histopathological Analysis

For histological analysis, cardiac tissue samples were fixed in 10% neutral-buffered formalin for 48 hours and subsequently processed for paraffin embedding. The fixed tissues were dehydrated using a graded alcohol series (70%, 80%, 96%, 96%, 100%, 100%), cleared in xylene, and embedded in paraffin blocks. Five-micrometer-thick sections, parallel to the apex-to-base plane, were obtained from paraffin blocks using a microtome (Leica RM2245, Germany), and stained with hematoxylin (05-06004/L, BioOptica, Italy) and eosin (05-11007/L, BioOptica, Italy). Histopathological assessments focused on inflammation, myocardial disorganization, and interstitial fibrosis, which are key indicators of MIRI. Hematoxylin and eosin-stained sections were examined under 200× and 400× magnifications using a light microscope (Leica DM 4000B, Germany) equipped with a computer, and images were analyzed using Leica LAS V4.9 software (Germany). Inflammation was evaluated based on the presence of inflammatory cell infiltration (neutrophils and mononuclear cells) in the interstitial space. Myocardial disorganization was assessed by examining cardiomyocyte alignment, loss of striation, and nuclear changes, including pyknosis and karyolysis. Interstitial fibrosis was analyzed by assessing collagen deposition within the myocardial interstitium. Each parameter was scored using a semiquantitative grading system, as previously described in the literature. A blinded histologist independently assessed and scored each tissue sample. Mean scores for inflammation, myocardial disorganization, and interstitial fibrosis were calculated for each group and statistically compared using ANOVA followed by post-hoc Tukey tests^(5,6,10).

Biochemical Analysis

At the end of the study, serum and cardiac tissue samples were frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C until analysis. Total oxidative status (TOS), total antioxidant status (TAS), and Oxidative Stress index (OSI) were measured to evaluate oxidative stress and antioxidant capacity. Cardiac tissue samples were homogenized in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4) using a mechanical homogenizer at 4 °C. The homogenates were centrifuged at $10,000 \times g$ for 10 minutes at 4 °C, and the supernatant was collected for biochemical analysis. TAS reflects the total antioxidant capacity of the tissue, which counteracts oxidative stress. TOS quantifies the total oxidant load, representing the degree of oxidative damage. OSI, calculated as the ratio of TOS to TAS, provides a comprehensive measure of redox balance and oxidative stress intensity. TAS levels were assessed using a commercial TAS assay kit (RelAssay Diagnostic®, Türkiye), following the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 500 µL of reagent 1 (measurement buffer) was mixed with 30 μ L of the tissue homogenate, and the initial absorbance (A1) was recorded at 660 nm using a spectrophotometer (NanoDrop[®] ND-1000, Thermo Scientific, USA). Subsequently, 75 µL of reagent 2, which contains 2,2-azino-bis-3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid, was added to the reaction mixture. The sample tubes were sealed with paraffin and incubated in a 37 °C water bath (ST 30, NUVE, Türkiye) for 5 minutes. Following incubation, the second absorbance (A2) was measured at 660 nm. For standard calibration, a 1 mmol/L Trolox equivalent (Trolox Eq) solution was used. All measurements (A1 and A2) were performed in triplicate, and the mean values were recorded. The change in absorbance (^AAbs) was determined as A2-A1, and TAS levels were expressed as mmol Trolox Eq/L. TOS was determined using a commercial TOS assay kit (RelAssay





Diagnostic[®], Türkiye) according to the manufacturer's protocol. 500 µL of reagent 1 (measurement buffer) was mixed with 75 µL of the cardiac tissue homogenate, and the initial absorbance (A1) was measured at 530 nm using a NanoDrop[®] ND-1000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA). Next, 25 µL of reagent 2 (prochromogenic solution) was added to the reaction mixture. The tubes were sealed with paraffin and incubated in a 37 °C water bath (ST 30, NUVE, Türkiye) for 5 minutes. After incubation, the A2 was recorded at 530 nm. For standard calibration, a 10 µmol/L hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) equivalent solution was used. The change in absorbance (^AAbs) was calculated as A2-A1, and TOS levels were expressed as mmol H₂O₂ Eq/L. The OSI was calculated as: $OSI = (TOS (\mu mol H_2O_2 Eq/L) / TAS (\mu mol H_2O_2 Eq$ Trolox Eq/L) x 100

OSI values provided a quantitative measure of oxidative stress levels in cardiac tissue samples^(5,24,25).

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). The normality of the data was assessed visually (histograms and probability plots) and analytically (Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests). For parametric data, results were presented as mean \pm standard error. For histopathological assessments and biochemical analysis, differences among groups were analyzed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test for multiple comparisons in normally distributed data. A type I error level of 5% (p<0.05) was considered statistically significant.

Results

Histopathological Findings

Histopathological evaluations revealed significant differences in inflammation and myocardial disorganization across experimental groups. Inflammation was significantly higher in the MIR group compared to the C and B-only groups (p=0.005 for both comparisons). However, the MIR+B group exhibited a significant reduction in inflammation compared to the IR group (p=0.048), as shown in Table 1 and Figures 1-4.

Similarly, myocardial disorganization was significantly more pronounced in the MIR group, compared to the C and B groups (p=0.003 for both). Notably, the MIR+B group demonstrated a significant reduction in myocardial disorganization compared to the MIR group (p=0.037), suggesting a protective effect of Boldine against structural disorganization (Table 1, Figures 1-4).

In contrast, interstitial fibrosis did not differ significantly among the groups (p=0.073), although the IR+B group exhibited a trend toward reduced fibrosis compared to the IR group (Table 1, Figures 1-4).

Biochemical Findings

Biochemical assessments of cardiac tissue revealed significant intergroup differences in oxidative stress parameters, including TAS, TOS, and OSI. TAS levels were significantly lower in the MIR group compared to the C and B groups (p<0.001 and p=0.012, respectively). However, TAS levels were significantly elevated in the MIR+B group compared to the MIR group (p=0.028),

Table 1. Histopathological scores of myocardial tissues (Mean ± SE)

	Control (C)	Boldine (B)	Myocardial ischemia- reperfusion (MIR)	Myocardial ischemia- reperfusion + Boldine (MIR+B)	p-value
Inflammation	0.17±0.17	0.17±0.17	1.17±0.31*;&	0.50±0.22+	0.015
Myocardial disorganization	0.33±0.21	0.33±0.21	1.33±0.33*;&	0.67±0.21+	0.010
Interstitial fibrosis	0.33±0.21	0.33±0.21	1.17±0.31	0.50±0.22	0.073

p: Statistical significance level was determined using the ANOVA test, with p<0.05 considered significant. *p<0.05: indicates a significant difference compared to the Control group (C). & p<0.05: indicates a significant difference compared to the Boldine group (B). + p<0.05: indicates a significant difference compared to the myocardial ischemia-reperfusion group (MIR), SE: Standard error





indicating an enhancement of antioxidant capacity with Boldine treatment (Table 2).

TOS levels were markedly higher in the MIR and MIR+B groups compared to the C and B groups (p<0.001 for both comparisons). Importantly, the MIR+B group demonstrated significantly reduced TOS levels compared



Figure 1. Group Control M: Myocard, F: Fibrosis, n: Nucleus, H&Ex100



Figure 2. Group Boldine n: Nucleus, H&Ex100

to the MIR group (p<0.001), highlighting Boldine's potential to mitigate oxidative burden (Table 2).

OSI, which represents the balance between oxidants and antioxidants, was significantly elevated in the MIR and MIR+B groups relative to the C and B groups (p<0.001 for all comparisons). However, the MIR+B group exhibited significantly lower OSI values compared



Figure 3. Group Ischemia-reperfusion *F: Fibrosis, n: Nucleus, conj: Congestion, inf: Inflammation, H&Ex100*



Figure 4. Group Ischemia-reperfusion + Boldine *M: Myocard, n: Nucleus, H&Ex100*

Table 2. Oxidative stress parameters in myocardial tissue (Mean ± SE)

	Control (C)	Boldine (B)	Myocardial ischemia- reperfusion (MIR)	Myocardial ischemia- reperfusion + Boldine (MIR+B)	p-value
TAS (mmol/L)	2.47±0.22	2.13±0.15	1.57±0.09*;&	2.05±0.05+	0.003
TOS (µmol/L)	7.78±0.60	10.26±1.20	52.34±3.00*;&	32.25±1.33 [*] ;&;+	<0.001
OSI	0.33±0.04	0.51±0.08	3.40±0.27*;&	1.58±0.06*;&;+	<0.001

p: The statistical significance level was calculated using the ANOVA test, where p<0.05 is considered significant. *p<0.05: indicates a significant difference compared to the Control group (C). & p<0.05: indicates a significant difference compared to the Boldine group (B). + p<0.05: Indicates a significant difference compared to the myocardial ischemia-reperfusion group (MIR), TAS: Total antioxidant status, TOS: Total oxidant status, OSI: Oxidative Stress index, SE: Standard error





to the MIR group (p<0.001), reflecting the restoration of redox balance with Boldine administration (Table 2).

Discussion

MIRI occurs when blood flow is restored to previously ischemic myocardial tissue, paradoxically resulting in additional cardiac damage. This injury is mediated by several interrelated mechanisms, including oxidative stress, inflammation, calcium overload, mitochondrial dysfunction, and the activation of cell death pathways^(12,26). During the ischemic phase, the deprivation of oxygen and nutrients forces myocardial cells to rely on anaerobic glycolysis, leading to the accumulation of hydrogen ions and lactate, which disrupts cellular homeostasis⁽⁴⁾. Upon reperfusion, the rapid reintroduction of oxygen triggers a burst of ROS production, primarily from mitochondria and NADPH oxidase, resulting in oxidative stress^(4,12). This oxidative damage affects lipids, proteins, and DNA, further aggravating tissue injury and contributing to cardiomyocyte necrosis and apoptosis⁽³⁾. In addition, inflammation plays a pivotal role in the pathogenesis of MIRI, with the nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B) pathway serving as a central regulator of the inflammatory response^(12,26). NF-kB activation occurs during reperfusion in response to signals such as cytokines, Toll-like receptors, and hypoxia-inducible factors, leading to the release of pro-inflammatory mediators, including tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and interleukins, which exacerbate myocardial damage. Collectively, these processes contribute to the complex pathophysiology of MIRI, which represents a significant contributor to myocardial infarction-related injury.

This study evaluated the potential protective effects of Boldine on myocardial tissue in a rat model of experimentally induced IR injury. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first comprehensive study investigating Boldine's role in mitigating oxidative stress and preserving myocardial structure and function during IR injury. The findings of this research highlight Boldine's ability to enhance antioxidant capacity, reduce oxidative burden, and attenuate inflammation and myocardial disorganization. These results provide a foundation for future advanced studies to explore Boldine's mechanisms of action, including its impact on molecular and signaling pathways involved in MIRI.

Boldine exerts its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects through various mechanisms, making it a promising therapeutic agent. As a natural alkaloid derived from the Peumus boldus tree, Boldine exhibits potent free radical scavenging properties, protecting cells from oxidative stress by neutralizing ROS and inhibiting LPO⁽¹⁴⁾. Although most studies have focused on systems other than the myocardium, their findings provide valuable insights relevant to our research. For instance, a study by Subramaniam et al.⁽²⁷⁾ demonstrated Boldine's ability to reduce oxidative stress and modulate tumor-related biomarkers in diethylnitrosamine-induced hepatocarcinogenesis in rats. The study observed improvements in oxidative stress markers, including SOD, catalase, and reduced GSH. Similarly, Calbiague et al.⁽²⁸⁾ investigated Boldine's antioxidant effects in protecting retinal cells against high glucose-induced oxidative damage in diabetic retinopathy. They found that Boldine decreased oxidant levels and increased antioxidant enzyme activity by modulating oxidative-nitrosative stress markers and mitochondrial function. Shuker et al.(18) also studied the antioxidative effects of Boldine in steroid-induced liver toxicity by assessing parameters such as LPO, GSH, GSH reductase, GSHPx, and SOD. Their findings highlighted Boldine's role in reducing oxidative damage by improving antioxidant enzyme activity. Moreover, Konrath et al.⁽²²⁾ evaluated Boldine's antioxidant and cytoprotective effects in hippocampal slices under ischemic stress. They measured ROS levels, lactate dehydrogenase release, and lipoperoxidation, concluding that Boldine effectively reduced oxidative damage at low doses, although potential pro-oxidant effects were observed at higher concentrations. Beyond animal models, Srivastava et al.⁽²⁹⁾ provided a detailed chemical and spectroscopic analysis of Boldine, emphasizing its antioxidant potential and the



structural properties contributing to its pharmacological effects. Using Raman and IR spectroscopy alongside computational modeling, the study demonstrated that Boldine's molecular structure enhances its radical-scavenging properties. In our study, TAS levels in the Boldine-treated MIR group were significantly higher than both the control and MIR-only groups. Although the exact mechanism underlying Boldine's antioxidant effects remains unclear. It can be inferred that Boldine enhances antioxidant enzyme activity in myocardial tissue. The observed reduction in TOS levels with Boldine treatment further supports its ROS-scavenging capability.

Boldine's role extends to reducing vascular oxidative stress, improving endothelial function, and preventing vascular damage associated with hypertension and diabetes⁽¹⁷⁾. Lau et al.⁽¹⁷⁾ highlighted Boldine's therapeutic relevance in endothelial dysfunction by modulating NO bioavailability, decreasing ROS levels, and improving vascular relaxation. Shuker et al.⁽¹⁸⁾ also examined NO levels as a parameter, reporting a significant increase in NO levels in the methylprednisolone (MPL)-treated group, which was linked to oxidative and nitrosative stress. This rise in NO was attributed to the activation of the NF- κ B/inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) pathway, a key mechanism in ROS/RNS-mediated oxidative damage. Co-administration of Boldine with MPL significantly reduced NO levels, suggesting that Boldine inhibits iNOS activation and mitigates nitrosative stress, thereby protecting tissues from NO-mediated injury. In the context of MIRI, excessive NO production contributes to tissue damage via peroxynitrite formation and endothelial dysfunction. Biochemical markers in our study indicate an overall reduction in oxidative stress, evidenced by improved TAS and reduced TOS and OSI. These findings suggest that Boldine likely mitigates oxidative and nitrosative stress in myocardial tissues by modulating the NF-kB/iNOS pathway and reducing NO levels. However, further studies focusing on specific molecules and signaling pathways are required to fully elucidate Boldine's antioxidative mechanisms.



In addition to its antioxidant properties, Boldine demonstrates significant anti-inflammatory effects across various tissues. For instance, Shuker et al.⁽¹⁸⁾ reported that Boldine exhibited hepatoprotective effects in steroidinduced liver toxicity by attenuating inflammation and apoptosis. The study observed a reduction in IL-6 and TNF- α levels, along with histopathological evidence of decreased apoptosis and inflammation. Similarly, Pandurangan et al.⁽³⁰⁾ investigated Boldine's antiinflammatory effects in dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. They found that Boldine reduced the expression of inflammatory cytokines, including TNF- α and IL-6, by inhibiting the NF-kB and IL-6/STAT3 signaling pathways. Histopathological analysis of colonic tissue further confirmed Boldine's anti-inflammatory effects, showing reduced inflammation and crypt damage. Another study on xylene-induced ear edema and carrageenan-induced paw edema in rodents highlighted Boldine's effectiveness in mitigating inflammation through the JAK2/STAT3 and NF-kB pathways⁽³¹⁾. This was supported by histological improvements in edema and reductions in TNF- α and IL-6 levels. Furthermore, Catalán et al.⁽³²⁾ explored Boldine's ability to prevent inflammation in cardiac fibroblasts. They demonstrated that Boldine inhibits the SGK1-NFkB signaling pathway, reducing the expression of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 beta and TNF- α , as well as adhesion molecules like intercellular adhesion molecule 1 and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1, which are critical mediators of leukocyte recruitment to inflamed tissues. In our study, histopathological assessments were performed to evaluate inflammation, myocardial disorganization, and interstitial fibrosis. Scoring revealed a significant reduction in inflammation and myocardial disorganization in the MIR group treated with Boldine compared to the untreated MIR group. These findings align with existing literature, reinforcing Boldine's antiinflammatory effects. However, no significant differences in interstitial fibrosis were observed across the groups. This lack of effect may be attributed to the limited time frame and the single-dose protocol employed in our study. While our histological findings regarding inflammation





and myocardial disorganization are consistent with previous studies, future investigations should include a broader range of doses and parameters to provide a more comprehensive understanding of Boldine's therapeutic potential.

Study Limitations

This study is subject to several limitations that should be acknowledged to contextualize the findings appropriately. First, the experimental design employed a single-dose regimen of Boldine, which may not adequately reflect the potential dose-response relationship. Future research should involve dose-escalation studies to identify the optimal therapeutic window and evaluate possible dose-dependent toxicities. Second, the relatively short duration of the experimental protocol restricts the ability to assess long-term outcomes, such as chronic myocardial remodeling, fibrosis progression, or recovery of cardiac function. Longitudinal studies with extended observation periods are necessary to determine whether the acute benefits of Boldine translate into sustained cardioprotection. Third, while the biochemical and histopathological assessments demonstrated significant reductions in oxidative stress and inflammation, the precise molecular mechanisms underlying Boldine's effects remain insufficiently characterized. Advanced molecular investigations, including transcriptomic, proteomic, and metabolomic analyses, are warranted to elucidate the signaling pathways and cellular processes modulated by Boldine during IR injury. Finally, the use of a preclinical rat model limits the direct applicability of these findings to human MIRI. Although the rat model provides valuable insights into pathophysiological mechanisms, speciesspecific differences in metabolism, pharmacokinetics, and cardiovascular physiology may affect the translational relevance of Boldine. Thus, additional studies involving larger animal models and, eventually, human clinical trials are essential to validate Boldine's therapeutic potential in clinical settings.

Conclusion

This study demonstrates the potential cardioprotective effects of Boldine in a rat model of MIRI. The findings indicate that Boldine significantly attenuates oxidative stress. reduces inflammation, and mitigates myocardial disorganization, highlighting its role as an effective antioxidant and anti-inflammatory agent. The observed improvements in oxidative stress markers, such as enhanced TAS and reduced TOS and OSI levels, as well as histopathological improvements, underscore Boldine's capacity to protect myocardial tissue during IR events. While these results provide a foundation for understanding Boldine's therapeutic potential in cardiovascular diseases, further investigations are required to elucidate its molecular mechanisms of action, dose-response relationships, and long-term effects. Translational studies and clinical trials are essential to determine its safety, efficacy, and applicability in human IHD.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The animals were sourced and raised within a specialized experimental research facility in Ankara, Türkiye (approval no: E-66332047-604.01-1128916, date: 27.12.2024) and were performed in a dedicated laboratory for animal research.

Informed Consent: This study was conducted using male Albino Wistar rats, aged 12 weeks and weighing between 270 and 320 grams.

Footnotes

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Demirtaş H, Özer A, Yıldırım AK, Concept: Demirtaş H, Yıldırım AK, Özer A, Dursun AD, Sezen ŞC, Yığman Z, Küçük A, Arslan M, Design: Demirtaş H, Yıldırım AK, Özer A, Dursun AD, Sezen ŞC, Yığman Z, Küçük A, Arslan M, Data Collection and/or Processing: Demirtaş H, Yıldırım AK, Özer A, Dursun AD, Sezen ŞC, Yığman Z, Küçük A, Arslan M, Analysis and/or Interpretation: Demirtaş H, Yıldırım



AK, Özer A, Dursun AD, Sezen ŞC, Yığman Z, Küçük A, Arslan M, Literature Search: Demirtaş H, Arslan M, Writing: Demirtaş H, Arslan M. Yıldırım AK.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare no conflicts of interest concerning the authorship or publication of this article.

Financial Disclosure: This research received no specific grants from any funding agency in the commercial or not-for-profit sectors.

References

- Deng Y, Chen Q, Wang T, et al. Myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury: mechanism and targeted treatment for ferroptosis. Anatol J Cardiol. 2024;28:133-41.
- Sagris M, Apostolos A, Theofilis P, et al. Myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury: unraveling pathophysiology, clinical manifestations, and emerging prevention strategies. Biomedicines. 2024;12:802.
- 3. Ibáñez B, Heusch G, Ovize M, et al. Evolving Therapies for myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;65:1454-71.
- Buja LM. Myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury. Cardiovasc Pathol. 2005;14:170-5.
- Köksal Z, Kurtipek Ö, Arslan M, et al. Protective effects of hydrogen rich saline solution in rats with experimental myocardial ischemia reperfusion injury. Heliyon. 2023;9:e22973.
- Gülcan MB, Demirtaş H, Özer A, et al. Ozone administration reduces myocardial ischemia reperfusion injury in streptozotocin induced diabetes mellitus rat model. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2024;18:4203-13.
- Iriz E, Iriz A, Take G, et al. Iloprost and vitamin C attenuate acute myocardial injury induced by suprarenal aortic ischemia-reperfusion in rabbits. *Bratisl Med J.* 2015;116:627-31.
- Özer A, Demirtaş H, Çomu FM, et al. Protective effect of erdosteine on erythrocyte deformability in a rat model of lower limb ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Turk J Med Sci.* 2018;48:187-90.
- Ozturk L, Dogan HT, Kilicarslan A, et al. Effect of different doses of pregabalin on skeletal muscle ischaemia-reperfusion injury in rats. Bratisl Lek Listy. 2017;118:417-22.
- Özer A, Erel S, Küçük A, et al. Evaluation of the effect of enriched hydrogen saline solution on distant organ (lung) damage in skeletal muscle ischemia reperfusion in rats. Sci Prog. 2024;107:368504241257060.
- Kara H, Ozer A, Arpaci H, et al. Effect of alprostadil on erythrocyte deformability in ischemia reperfusion injury. Bratisl Lek Listy. 2015;116:509-11.
- Frank A, Bonney M, Bonney S, et al. Myocardial ischemia reperfusion injury: from basic science to clinical bedside. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2012;16:123-32.

- Schmeda-Hirschmann G, Rodriguez JA, Theoduloz C, et al. Free-radical scavengers and antioxidants from Peumus boldus Mol. ("Boldo"). Free Radic Res. 2003;37:447-52.
- Sáez JC, Burrell JC, Cahill CM, et al. Pharmacology of boldine: summary of the field and update on recent advances. Front Pharmacol. 2024;15:1427147.
- Ezhilarasan D, Shree Harini K, Karthick M, et al. Boldine protects against carbon tetrachloride-induced chronic liver injury by regulating NF-κB signaling pathway. J Biochem Mol Toxicol. 2024;38:e23691.
- O'Brien P, Carrasco-Pozo C, Speisky H. Boldine and its antioxidant or health-promoting properties. Chem Biol Interact. 2006;159:1-17.
- Lau YS, Ling WC, Murugan D, et al. Boldine ameliorates vascular oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction: therapeutic implication for hypertension and Diabetes. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2015;65:522-31.
- Shuker E, Farhood M, Al-Qudaihi G, et al. Potential effects of boldine on oxidative stress, apoptosis, and inflammatory changes induced by the methylprednisolone hepatotoxicity in male wistar rats. Dose Response. 2022;20:15593258221082877.
- Lau YS, Tian XY, Mustafa MR, et al. Boldine improves endothelial function in diabetic db/db mice through inhibition of angiotensin II-mediated BMP4oxidative stress cascade. Br J Pharmacol. 2013;170:1190-8.
- Li W, Veeraraghavan VP, Ma W. Effects of Boldine on antioxidants and allied inflammatory markers in mouse models of asthma. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol. 2020;39:225-34.
- Jang YY, Song JH, Shin YK, et al. Protective effect of boldine on oxidative mitochondrial damage in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Pharmacol Res. 2000;42:361-71.
- 22. Konrath EL, Santin K, Nassif M, et al. Antioxidant and pro-oxidant properties of boldine on hippocampal slices exposed to oxygen-glucose deprivation in vitro. Neurotoxicology. 2008;29:1136-40.
- Paydar M, Kamalidehghan B, Wong YL, et al. Evaluation of cytotoxic and chemotherapeutic properties of boldine in breast cancer using in vitro and in vivo models. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2014;8:719-33.
- Şengel N, Köksal Z, Dursun AD, et al. Effects of dexmedetomidine administered through different routes on kidney tissue in rats with spinal cord ischaemia-reperfusion injury. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2022;16:2229-39.
- 25. Özdemir Ç, Arslan M, Küçük A, et al. Therapeutic efficacy of boric acid treatment on brain tissue and cognitive functions in rats with experimental alzheimer's disease. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2023;17:1453-62.
- Dong P, Liu K, Han H. The role of NF-κB in myocardial ischemia/ reperfusion injury. Curr Protein Pept Sci. 2022;23:535-47.
- Subramaniam N, Kannan P, K A, et al. Hepatoprotective effect of boldine against diethylnitrosamine-induced hepatocarcinogenesis in wistar rats. J Biochem Mol Toxicol. 2019;33:e22404.
- Calbiague García V, Cadiz B, Herrera P, et al. Evaluation of photobiomodulation and boldine as alternative treatment options in two diabetic retinopathy models. Int J Mol Sci. 2023;24:7918.
- 29. Srivastava A, Tandon P, Ayala AP, et al. Solid state characterization of an antioxidant alkaloid boldine using vibrational spectroscopy and quantum chemical calculations. Vib Spectrosc. 2011;56:82-8.





- Pandurangan AK, Mohebali N, Hasanpourghadi M, et al. Boldine suppresses dextran sulfate sodium-induced mouse experimental colitis: NF-κB and IL-6/STAT3 as potential targets. Biofactors. 2016;42:247-58.
- Yang X, Gao X, Cao Y, et al. Anti-inflammatory effects of boldine and reticuline isolated from litsea cubeba through JAK2/STAT3 and NF-κB signaling pathways. Planta Med. 2018;84:20-5.
- 32. Catalán M, González-Herrera F, Maya JD, et al. Boldine prevents the inflammatory response of cardiac fibroblasts induced by SGK1-NFκB signaling pathway activation. Cell Signal. 2024;120:111241.





J Updates Cardiovasc Med 2025;13(1):53-56

DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2024-31-109

Late Diaphragmatic Paralysis After Atrial Fibrillation Cryoablation

🛛 Özge Çakmak Karaaslan, 🗗 Ümit Güray

Ankara City Hospital, Clinic of Cardiology, Ankara, Türkiye

Abstract

Atrial fibrillation (AF), a common cardiac arrhythmia, is often managed with catheter ablation, specifically cryoablation, to electrically isolate pulmonary veins by tissue freezing. Despite its effectiveness, a significant complication is phrenic nerve injury, which can result in diaphragmatic paralysis. This case report presents a 70-year-old female with a history of coronary artery bypass surgery, hypertension, and diabetes, who underwent AF cryoablation. Post-operatively, she was asymptomatic and discharged in sinus rhythm. However, several weeks later, she developed dyspnea and was diagnosed with right diaphragmatic paralysis due to phrenic nerve injury. Initial management included respiratory therapy, leading to significant symptom improvement and partial recovery of diaphragmatic movement within two months. The discussion highlights the prevalence, causes, and management of early and late phrenic nerve injuries, emphasizing the need for early diagnosis and appropriate treatment to ensure patient recovery.

Keywords: Atrial fibrillation cryoablation, late diaphragmatic paralysis, phrenic nerve palsy

Introduction

Atrial fibrillation (AF), a prevalent cardiac arrhythmia, is frequently managed with catheter ablation. Cryoablation is a common method for electrically isolating the pulmonary veins through tissue freezing. However, a significant complication of this procedure is injury to the phrenic nerve, potentially resulting in diaphragmatic paralysis.

Case Presentation

A 70-year-old female was referred to the cardiology outpatient clinic complaining of palpitations. AF cryoablation was planned for the patient, who has a known history of coronary artery bypass surgery, hypertension, and diabetes. In our center, ablation procedures were conducted with deep sedation utilizing intermittent doses of midazolam and fentanyl for all



Address for Correspondence: Özge Çakmak Karaaslan, Ankara City Hospital, Clinic of Cardiology, Ankara, Türkiye e-mail: ozgecakmak2323@gmail.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0173-4017 Received: 05.10.2024 Accepted: 03.01.2025 Epub: 11.02.2025 Publication Date: 25.03.2025

Cite this article as: Çakmak Karaaslan Ö, Güray Ü. Late diaphragmatic paralysis after atrial fibrillation cryoablation. J Updates Cardiovasc Med. 2025;13(1):53-56.

DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2024-31-109



Copyright[©] 2025 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Heart and Health Foundation of Turkey (HHFT). This is an open access article under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND) International License.





patients. Throughout the procedure, oxygen saturation and electrocardiography (ECG) findings were monitored non-invasively. The right femoral vein and left femoral vein/artery were accessed by using the Seldinger technique. A 6 French steerable decapolar catheter was inserted into the coronary sinus. A single transseptal puncture was performed using fluoroscopic guidance and a modified Brockenbrough technique (BRK-1 transseptal needle; St. Jude Medical, St. Paul, MN, USA), with the insertion of an 8.5 French transseptal sheath (Fast-Cath transseptal guiding introducer, St. Jude Medical, St. Paul MN, USA) into the left atrium (LA). Immediately following transseptal puncture, unfractionated heparin was administered to maintain an activated clotting time of at least 300 s. The transseptal sheath was then exchanged over a guidewire (0.032 in., 180 cm Super Stiff, St. Jude Medical, St. Paul, MN, USA) for a 12 French steerable sheath (Flexcath Advance; Medtronic, Minneapolis, MN, USA). A 15-or 20-mm circular mapping catheter (Achieve, Medtronic, Minneapolis, MN, USA) was used to guide the cryoballoon within the LA and attempt realtime recordings from the targeted pulmonary vein. The balloon was inflated within the LA and directed toward the pulmonary vein ostia. Balloon occlusion was assessed by injecting contrast agent through the central lumen of the catheter. Each freezing cycle lasted 180-240 seconds, with an additional freeze applied if the pulmonary vein isolation was not obtained beyond 60 s. 20 mm, 4th generation Achieve catheter was used. Right phrenic nerve stimulation is always performed during freezing of right pulmonary veins and right hemidiaphragm contraction is assessed manually until balloon deflation. High-output pacing was performed using the ablation catheter during ablation near the pulmonary veins on the right side and output pacing was performed through the ablation catheter. Same procedure was performed in aforementioned case and right diaphragmatic movement was intact both after right upper and lower pulmonary vein balloon deflation. Post-operative course was uneventful and patient was discharged in sinus rhythm following day without any relevant complications. After the procedure,

chest radiography was normal and 12 lead ECG showed sinus rhythm (Figure 1).

However, 4 weeks after the procedure, the patient presented with dyspnea with effort capacity. A physical examination revealed decreased breath sounds on the right hemithorax. An elevated right hemidiaphragm was noted plain chest radiography (Figure 2). The patient was initially managed conservatively with respiratory therapy. At the two-month follow-up, the patient's symptoms had significantly improved, and repeat imaging showed partial recovery of the diaphragmatic movement (Figure 3).



Figure 1. Chest radiography after the procedure



Figure 2. Right diaphragmatic elevation observed four weeks post-procedure



Discussion

In this case, late phrenic nerve paralysis (PNP) was observed. The development of shortness of breath, not evident during the procedure but evident during follow-up assessments, may indicate the development of late phrenic nerve injury. Phrenic nerve injury during cryoablation typically occurs because of the close anatomical proximity of the right phrenic nerve and right pulmonary veins⁽¹⁾ and the prevalence has been reported to be between 3-7% after cryoablation of AF^(2,3). However, early and late PNP are two distinct complications that can occur after cryoablation of pulmonary veins, each with its own characteristics and management considerations⁽⁴⁾. The primary cause of early paralysis is the direct injury to the phrenic nerve during ablation. Late paralysis is often caused by inflammatory or edematous changes that develop post-procedure, leading to compression or irritation of the phrenic nerve^(5,6). In the current case, the mechanisms of delayed inflammatory response, progressive edema and cryoablation lesion expansion related to late-onset PNP were considered. Further







investigation into these potential mechanisms is necessary to better understand and prevent late-onset PNP in future patients.

Conclusion

Phrenic nerve injury leading to right hemi diaphragmatic paralysis is a potential late complication of AF cryoablation. One should always consider late diaphragmatic paralysis due to right phrenic nerve injury in differential diagnosis of dyspnea after cryoballoon isolation of pulmonary veins due to AF. Early diagnosis and appropriate management are crucial for patient recovery.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from the patient before the procedure.

Footnotes

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Çakmak Karaaslan Ö, Güray Ü., Concept: Çakmak Karaaslan Ö, Güray Ü., Design: Çakmak Karaaslan Ö, Güray Ü., Data Collection and/or Processing: Çakmak Karaaslan Ö, Güray Ü., Analysis and/or Interpretation: Çakmak Karaaslan Ö, Güray Ü., Literature Search: Çakmak Karaaslan Ö, Güray Ü., Writing: Çakmak Karaaslan Ö, Güray Ü.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare no conflicts of interest concerning the authorship or publication of this article.

Financial Disclosure: This research received no specific grants from any funding agency in the commercial or not-for-profit sectors.

References

- 1. Mears JA, Lachman N, Christensen K, et al. The phrenic nerve and atrial fibrillation ablation procedures. J Atr Fibrillation. 2009;2:176.
- Canpolat U, Kocyigit D, Aytemir K. Complications of atrial fibrillation cryoablation. J Atr Fibrillation. 2017;10:1620.
- Heeger CH, Sohns C, Pott A, et al. Phrenic nerve injury during cryoballoonbased pulmonary vein isolation: results of the worldwide yeti registry. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2022;15:e010516.





- Bai R, Patel D, Di Biase L, et al. Phrenic nerve injury after catheter ablation: should we worry about this complication? J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2006;17:944-8.
- Ohashi C, Uchida T, Tanaka Y, et al. Successful treatment of phrenic nerve injury with diaphragmatic plication 5 years after onset: a case report. SAGE Open Med Case Rep. 2022;10:2050313X211070514.
- 6. Yamashita K, Kholmovski E, Ghafoori E, et al. Characterization of edema after cryo and radiofrequency ablations based on serial magnetic resonance imaging. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2019;30:255-62.







DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2024-40-121

Mitral Anterior Leaflet Perforation Due to Jet Flow in Aortic Valve Insufficiency

🛛 Mehmet Işık, 🗗 Muhammet B Cavlak, 🖾 Serkan Yıldırım, 🗗 Yüksel Dereli

Necmettin Erbakan University Faculty of Medicine Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Konya, Türkiye

Abstract

Mitral valve disease is one of the most common pathologies of heart valve diseases. Mitral regurgitation may develop due to pathologies in the valve apparatus (primary regurgitation) or due to pathologies related to the atrium and/or ventricle (secondary regurgitation). Treatment options include medical, transcatheter, and surgical approaches, depending on the course of the disease. In this study, we present a patient with perforation in the mitral anterior leaflet secondary to aortic valve regurgitation. Mid-aortic regurgitation (jet flow directed toward the mitral anterior) was observed on echocardiography. It was interesting that the perforation in the mitral anterior leaflet developed secondary to aortic valve regurgitation. Aortic valve replacement and mitral valve repair were performed. The successful surgery and images of the case are wanted to be shared.

Keywords: Mitral regurgitation; aortic regurgitation; mitral repair

Introduction

Mitral insufficiency is the most common heart valve disease in the United States and the second most common heart valve disease requiring surgical intervention in Europe⁽¹⁾. Its prevalence increases to approximately 9% in the population over 75 years of age⁽²⁾. Mitral regurgitation is classified as primary or secondary, depending on the etiology. In primary mitral insufficiency, valve defects

prevent cooptation. In secondary failure, although the valve is normal, there are problems in parts of the heart other than the valve (atrium and/or ventricle). Treatment options may include medical, transcatheter, and surgical approaches, depending on the course of the disease ⁽³⁾.

Etiological distribution of patients requiring surgery; primary myxomatous, 61%; rheumatic, 22%; endocarditis, 5%; non-ischemic cardiomyopathies, 3%; and ischemia-induced, $1.3\%^{(4)}$.



Address for Correspondence: Mehmet Işık, Necmettin Erbakan University Faculty of Medicine Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Konya, Türkiye

e-mail: drmisik@hotmail.com ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-2154-7473

Received: 09.12.2024 Accepted: 07.01.2025 Epub: 10.01.2025 Publication Date: 25.03.2025

Cite this article as: Işık M, Cavlak MB, Yıldırım S, Dereli Y. Mitral anterior leaflet perforation due to jet flow in aortic valve insufficiency. J Updates Cardiovasc Med. 2025;13(1):57-59. DOI: 10.32596/jucvm.galenos.2025.2024-40-121







In this study, we present a patient who developed perforation in the mitral anterior valve due to aortic valve regurgitation. Eccentric mid-aortic insufficiency (jet flow toward the mitral anterior) was observed on echocardiography. It was interesting that the perforation in the mitral anterior leaflet developed secondary to aortic valve insufficiency. Aortic valve replacement and mitral valve repair were performed. We wanted to share images of successful surgery and cases.

Case Presentation

The patient was 67 years old and male. He had complaints of exertional dyspnea and orthopnea that had been present for 2 months. He had a history of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, hypertension, and smoking. No history of coronary or vascular intervention. As a result of echocardiography, the ejection fraction was 60%, sinus valsalva was 3.8 cm, ascending aorta is 3.7 cm, aortic regurgitation is moderate and eccentric (jet flow is mitral anterior leaflet oriented), severe mitral regurgitation, left atrial dilatation (left atrium 4.9 cm), mitral Cleft and color transition were observed in the anterior leaflet, and pulmonary artery pressure was found to be 43 mmHg. In the preoperative examinations, blood samples, chest X-ray, and coronary angiography were evaluated as normal. Electrocardiogram was in sinus rhythm. The surgery decision was made by the Cardiology and Cardiovascular Surgery Council. Informed consent was obtained from the patient. Median sternotomy was performed under general anesthesia. The valve was accessed via right atriotomy and atrial septostomy with cardiopulmonary bypass. A large perforated area was observed in the mitral anterior leaflet (Figure 1). This area was first repaired with 5/0 polypropylene suture, and mitral annuloplasty was performed with a 32-mm 3D ring (Figure 2). The aortic valve was then reached via aortotomy. The valve was tricuspid. The aortic valve was too degenerative for repair. Therefore, the aortic valve was replaced with a mechanical valve number 27. There was no bacterial growth in the aortic valve tissue taken. We completed the surgery using the standard procedure. The patient was extubated at 6 hours after surgery. We did not observe any pathology on control echocardiography and we discharged him on the 5^{th} day after surgery.

Discussion

Mitral regurgitation can develop due to pathology in the valve apparatus, as well as pathologies related to the atrium (atrial fibrillation, atrial dilatation, etc.) and/ or ventricle (cardiomyopathy, ischemia, etc.). The causes of valve pathology include rheumatic valve disease, degeneration, endocarditic and myxoma⁽¹⁾.

Aortic valve regurgitation jet stream; It can be quite heterogeneous, as it can develop depending on the valve structure, valve asymmetry, aortic root dilatation, and acquired abnormalities (endocarditic or degenerative)⁽⁵⁾. Mitral regurgitation due to aortic valve regurgitation jets has been reported in the literature⁽⁶⁾. In some cases of



Figure 1. (A,B) Images of the perforated mitral anterior leaflet



Figure 2. Post-repair view of the perforated mitral anterior leaflet





the bicuspid aortic valve, the regurgitation jet is directed toward the anterior mitral leaflet, thereby affecting valve patency⁽⁷⁾.

The patient had no previous history of coronary or vascular intervention. It was determined that he did not have febrile illness similar to infective endocarditic. Infection parameters were normal in the analysis performed. In echocardiography; The aortic valves were tricuspid. We found that moderate aortic jet flow was directed toward the anterior mitral valve leaflet. Aortic valve insufficiency is a characteristic of degenerative valve disease. As a result, we concluded that severe mitral regurgitation is a newly developing condition caused by aortic jet flow.

In non-ischemic mitral valve regurgitation, mitral valve repair is preferred over valve replacement. Lower cost and valve-related complications, including bleeding and thrombosis events, have been reported⁽⁸⁾. Similarly, significantly fewer complications and better quality of life have been reported in patients undergoing aortic valve repair compared with mechanical valve replacement⁽⁹⁾. In the present case, we repaired the valve primarily because there was only mitral valve anterior leaflet perforation, and the other valve apparatus was normal. Since the insufficiency of the aortic valve was degenerative, it could not be repaired, and mechanical valve replacement. Although 67 years old, he was vigorous. For this reason, we used a mechanical valve with better durability instead of a bioprosthetic valve.

Conclusion

As a result, it should be kept in mind that mitral valve perforation may occur in patients with newly developing mitral insufficiency who are followed up with aortic regurgitation.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from the patient.

Footnotes

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Işık M, Cavlak MB, Yıldırım S, Dereli Y, Concept: Işık M, Yıldırım S, Dereli Y, Design: Işık M, Data Collection and/or Processing: Işık M, Cavlak MB, Analysis and/or Interpretation: Işık M, Literature Search: Işık M, Yıldırım S, Dereli Y, Writing: Işık M, Yıldırım S, Dereli Y.

Conflict of Interest: The author declare no conflicts of interest concerning the authorship or publication of this article.

Financial Disclosure: This research received no specific grants from any funding agency in the commercial or not-for-profit sectors.

References

- Enriquez-Sarano M, Akins CW, Vahanian A. Mitral regurgitation. Lancet. 2009;373:1382-94.
- Harky A, Botezatu B, Kakar S, et al. Mitral valve diseases: pathophysiology and interventions. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2021;67:98-104.
- Vahanian A, Beyersdorf F, Praz F, et al. 2021 ESC/EACTS Guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. Eur Heart J. 2022;43:561-632. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab395. Erratum in: Eur Heart J. 2022;43:2022.
- Maher T, Vegh A, Uretsky S. Mitral regurgitation: advanced imaging parameters and changing treatment landscape. Heart Fail Clin. 2023;19:525-30.
- Roberts WC, McCullough SP, Vasudevan A. Characteristics of adults having aortic valve replacement for pure aortic regurgitation involving a congenitally bicuspid aortic valve unaffected by infective endocarditis or aortic dissection. Am J Cardiol. 2018;122:2104-11.
- De Brabandere K, Voigt JU, Rex S, et al. Aortic and mitral valve repair for anterior mitral leaflet perforation caused by severe aortic regurgitation. J Vis Surg. 2018;4:99.
- 7. Galea N, Pambianchi G, Cundari G, et al. Impaction of regurgitation jet on anterior mitral leaflet is associated with diastolic dysfunction in patients with bicuspid aortic valve and mild insufficiency: a cardiovascular magnetic resonance study. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2022;38:211-21.
- McNeely CA, Vassileva CM. Long-term outcomes of mitral valve repair versus replacement for degenerative disease: a systematic review. Curr Cardiol Rev. 2015;11:157-62.
- 9. Aicher D, Holz A, Feldner S, et al. Quality of life after aortic valve surgery: replacement versus reconstruction. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2011;142:19-24.